Designing Surveys of Abundance at Sea Turtle Nesting Beaches



Karen L. Eckert and Scott A. Eckert WIDECAST Technical Report No. 15

2012

For bibliographic purposes, this document may be cited as:

Eckert, Karen L. and Scott A. Eckert. 2012. Designing Surveys of Abundance at Sea Turtle Nesting Beaches. Wider Caribbean Sea Turtle Conservation Network (WIDECAST) Technical Report No. 15. Ballwin, Missouri. 52 pp.

ISSN: 1930-3025

Cover Photo: Guillaume Feuillet (Montjoly, French Guiana)

Cover Photo inserts (top to bottom): Seth Stapleton (Dominica), Wildlife Trust (Belize), Scott Eckert (Georgia, USA), Guillaume Feuillet (French Guiana), annual numbers of hawksbills nesting at Jumby Bay, Antigua (Richardson et al., 2006)

This publication may be downloaded from http://www.widecast.org/widecast-publications/

Designing Surveys of Abundance at Sea Turtle Nesting Beaches

Karen L. Eckert Scott A. Eckert

2012





PREFACE AND INTENT

For nearly three decades, the Wider Caribbean Sea Turtle Conservation Network (WIDECAST), with Country Coordinators resident in more than 40 Caribbean nations and territories, has linked scientists, conservationists, natural resource users and managers, policy-makers, industry groups, educators, and other stakeholders together in a collective effort to develop a unified management framework, and to promote a region-wide capacity to design and implement science-based sea turtle conservation actions.

As a Partner Organization of the UNEP Caribbean Environment Programme and its Regional Programme for Specially Protected Areas and Wildlife (SPAW), WIDECAST is designed to address research and management priorities at national and regional levels, both for sea turtles and for the habitats upon which they depend. We focus on bringing the best available science to bear on contemporary management and conservation issues, empowering stakeholders to make effective use of that science in the policy-making process, and providing an operational mechanism and a framework for cooperation within and among nations.

Network participants are committed to working collaboratively to develop their collective capacity to manage shared sea turtle populations. By bringing people together and encouraging inclusive management planning, WIDECAST is helping to ensure that utilization practices, whether consumptive or non-consumptive, do not undermine sea turtle survival in the long term. However, the recovery of remnant populations of Caribbean sea turtles will require more than a precautionary approach to sustainable use, it will require thoughtful attention to both acute and chronic threats to important nesting and foraging habitats and the capacity to monitor population trends in order to evaluate the success (or failure) of conservation and management actions taken.

Following on the publication of WIDECAST's "Atlas of Sea Turtle Nesting Habitat for the Wider Caribbean Region"¹, the purpose of this Technical Report is to help sea turtle project directors and natural resource managers define their objectives in monitoring sea turtle nesting beaches, and then to develop and implement methodologies, including statistical treatments and data analyses, to meet those objectives. Best practices are discussed relative to determining the geography and phenology of nesting (and how these might be changing over time), selecting index monitoring sites, evaluating survey timing and duration, and deciding what (and how often) to count. Links to database management software (including standardized data reporting forms) and online analysis programs to generate seasonal abundance estimates are provided.

By encouraging a unified approach to sea turtle population monitoring at national and international levels, we strive to ensure that data are compatible and comparable at ecological scales, furthering the intent of the SPAW Protocol to establish "regional co-operation to protect and, as appropriate, to restore and improve the state of ecosystems, as well as threatened and endangered species and their habitats in the Wider Caribbean Region..."

> Karen L. Eckert, Ph.D. Executive Director WIDECAST

¹ Dow, W., K. Eckert, M. Palmer and P. Kramer. 2007. An Atlas of Sea Turtle Nesting Habitat for the Wider Caribbean Region. The Wider Caribbean Sea Turtle Conservation Network and The Nature Conservancy. WIDECAST Technical Report No. 6. Beaufort, North Carolina. 267 pp. + electronic Appendices.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Preface and Intent	1
	Table of Contents	2
	Executive Summary	3
I.	Introduction	5
II.	Definitions	7
III.	Arribadas: A Special Case	8
IV.	Survey Design	9
V.	Survey Implementation Establish the Geography of Nesting Select the Area(s) to be Monitored Consider Survey Timing and Duration Options Decide What to Count <i>Case Study: Activity Counts</i> <i>Case Study: Nest Counts</i> <i>Case Study: Turtle Counts</i> Decide How Often to Count	11 12 14 16 18 20 21 22
VI.	Survey Data Analysis Calculate Conversion Factors <i>Convert Activity Counts to Nest Counts</i> <i>Convert Nest Counts to Turtle Counts</i> Validate Your "Index" Selection Estimate Abundance	26 26 27 28 29 32
VII.	Conclusions	33
VIII.	Acknowledgements	36
IX.	Literature Cited	37
	Annex I: Sea Turtle Species Identification	46
	Annex II: Interpreting Crawl Signs	47
	Annex III: Sea Turtle Tagging	48

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Concern over the plight of sea turtles in the Wider Caribbean Region (WCR) has led to the adoption of protective legislation and the widespread implementation of conservation programs. Evaluating the success or failure of these efforts relies on accurate information concerning the status of target populations, especially whether the population is increasing or decreasing. Accurately assessing status and trend requires careful attention to the design and implementation of long-term surveys of abundance. Because sea turtles are highly migratory at all life stages, such surveys are typically aimed at adult females seasonally accessible at nesting beaches.

Assessing population status is a priority recommendation of sea turtle recovery plans in the WCR (e.g., see <u>http://www.widecast.org/widecast-publications/national-recovery-plans/</u>); moreover, Parties to the Convention on the Protection and Development of the Marine Environment of the Wider Caribbean Region (and its Protocol on Specially Protected Areas and Wildlife, SPAW), as well as to the InterAmerican Convention for the Protection and Conservation of Sea Turtles (IAC), are obliged to monitor the sea turtle resource to ensure its sustained recovery.

Surveys of abundance serve duel objectives: first, to meaningfully inform national management policy based on trends at local index nesting beaches (see *Definitions*) and, second, to estimate population-level trends (including males and non-reproductive life stages) from data collected at index sites over regional scales and pooled for analysis among range States. Place-based decisions regarding where and when to survey, how and what to count, and how to analyze and report data should always follow methodological and analytical best practices.

The objective of this handbook is to guide managers in achieving an accurate tally of the number of females nesting each year. A complete count of every individual turtle successfully nesting each year on the full inventory of beaches used by a particular stock is ideal. However, this may not be practical because of any number of logistic and human resource issues, including the reality that adult female members of a particular stock may nest on multiple beaches in remote locations or routinely cross national boundaries. For this reason, we specifically focus on making decisions about where and when to monitor index nesting beaches, what to count, and how to analyze the data in order to detect and interpret changes in abundance over time.

This handbook does not duplicate existing resources describing field procedures and protocols related to working on sea turtle nesting beaches (e.g., patrol schedules, measuring turtles, nest protection/relocation, nest excavation and assessing hatch success, completing data forms, training and evaluating staff, processing stranded turtles). Tagging, however, is described because it directly relates to some index measures.

CHECK LIST FOR MANAGERS

Define the management question(s) – e.g., "How many leatherback turtles arrive each year at the nation's most important nesting grounds? Are these populations increasing or decreasing over time?"

Identify stakeholders and partners² necessary to sustain a *long-term (10 years+) moni*toring effort at selected index beaches.

² Management authority(ies), police/rangers/Coast Guard, researchers, volunteers, community groups, coastal landowners (including hotel managers and staff), and fishers, divers or tour guides that regularly visit remote cays

	Convene a meeting of stakeholders and partners to review what's known, identify gaps,
I	discuss methodological approaches, draft a monitoring plan (including training, imple-
	mentation, evaluation, and reporting), and develop a funding strategy, if needed.

Develop a logistical and quality control plan for data collection; data handling, checking (for accuracy), and storage procedures; and data fate, ownership and access, including who will be responsible at each stage and for each procedure.

Design data sheets that prompt the observer for each measurement, keeping the procedures and requirements of data recording, computer entry, and data analyses in mind.

Establish t	he geography	^v of nesting. ³
	- 3- 3 - 7	3

Establish the phenology (timing) of nesting – most methodological approaches and analytical models require that the beginning, peak, and end of the nesting season be known.

Decide what to monitor – select index sites (generally your most accessible high-density nesting beaches) for intensive monitoring and identify remote, less accessible, and/or lower density sites (known or suspected to be visited by the same sea turtle population) for less frequent assessment; be aware and take advantage of ongoing research or other visitation to lower density sites that could accommodate a minimum level of data collection for management purposes.

Decide what to count – activities (defined as both successful and unsuccessful nesting attempts), nests (successful attempts [egg-laying] only), or individual turtles; know the advantages and disadvantages of each index measure and how to make site-specific conversions (e.g., convert number of nests to number of females).

Decide how often to count – if complete nightly patrols to document all nesting turtles are not practical, select a sampling scenario that presents a good "fit" for your situation.

Implement the monitoring program – including staff/volunteer training and evaluation, scheduling and supervision, transportation and security, data collection and reporting, and so on. *Note*: these should be reviewed/evaluated annually, pre- and post-season.

Validate selection of your index beaches at regular intervals to confirm that data collected there reflect trends in the target population - e.g., if hawksbills are nesting on 20 offshore cays and five cays are selected for intensive monitoring, you need to assure yourself that trends at the other 15 cays are in sync with the index.

Analyze the data for estimates of abundance on an annual basis; free analytical software and other online tools are described in this handbook.

Document survey results in an Annual Report – including methodology used, as well as a measure of accuracy (e.g., standard deviation) for any calculated results.

Share the results on a regular basis with regional and global sea turtle assessment databanks; e.g., State of the World's Sea Turtles (SWOT) <u>http://seaturtlestatus.org/</u>

³ This can be done through direct reconnaissance surveys, interviews, or a review of previous documentation, such as Dow et al. (2007), an atlas with interactive features that identifies all known nesting beaches in WCR countries.

I. INTRODUCTION

Concern over the plight of six species of sea turtle inhabiting the Wider Caribbean Region (WCR) has led to the adoption of protective legislation and the implementation of conservation initiatives in most of the region's nations and territories (e.g., Godley et al., 2004; Bräutigam and Eckert, 2006; Dow Piniak and Eckert, 2011). Evaluating the success or failure of these initiatives relies on accurate information concerning the status of target populations and, specifically, whether these populations are increasing or decreasing (Eckert, 1999). Such information empowers managers to respond to changes in population status with mitigation or other options designed to enhance population recovery (Bjorkland, 2001).

Reliably characterizing population status requires careful attention to the design and implementation of abundance surveys, ideally aimed at multiple life stages (e.g., gravid female, oceanic post-hatchling) and habitats (e.g., nesting beach, foraging ground) (Heppell et al., 2003; Mills, 2007; NRC, 2010). This handbook specifically focuses on making decisions about where and when to monitor *sea turtle nesting populations*, what to count, and how to analyze the data to detect changes in population abundance over time. It does not duplicate resources already available that articulate best practices related to research and conservation initiatives on nesting beaches (e.g., Eckert et al., 1999; Wood, 2004; Gorjux et al., 2006; FFWCC, 2007; Chacón et al., 2008; NMFS 2008).

Surveillance vs. Directed Monitoring – There are two common approaches to assessing population status. With the first approach, surveillance (sometimes referred to as "thumb-on-thepulse") monitoring, the goal is to know "how the population is doing", especially whether it is in decline, and the results may point to the need for more rigorous evaluations. The North American Breeding Bird Survey (BBS) is an example of this type of monitoring. During the annual breeding season (May-June) in the continental USA, volunteers survey pre-established routes and tally all birds seen or heard. This survey is primarily oriented toward passerine species ("song birds") and it generates indices that can be used to estimate population trends (Figure 1). The survey is not designed to inform a particular conservation decision; notwithstanding, such surveys, especially when conducted consistently over time, have a demonstrated usefulness in identifying species or populations that might be of concern (Sauer et al., 2008).



FIGURE 1. Map of the continental USA and southern Canada showing where the majority of Neotropical migrants are increasing and where they are decreasing, emphasizing the regional nature of the recent declines within this guild. On the right, the Bobolink (*Dolichonyx oryzivorus*) is typical of BBS trend maps, showing widespread declines in much of its range. Source: Sauer et al. (1997) at <u>http://www.mbr-pwrc.usgs.gov/bbs/genintro.html</u>

In contrast, direct monitoring is designed to inform a particular conservation decision – and this approach requires an informed decision-making process with clear and specific conservation/ management objectives, a set of decisions to choose from, predictions about how each decision alternative might affect the population of interest, and a monitoring program (Kendall, 2001; Nichols, 2001; Williams et al., 2002). Stakeholders must first balance potentially competing interests so that the objectives are clear. Logistic or funding limits invariably play a role in deciding which objectives can be achieved. The second element in a decision process is the set of decision alternatives largely determined by a combination of political and economic feasibility, and the third is anticipation or prediction of what types of actions might be helpful to sea turtle conservation. This leads to the fourth component of an informed decision - a monitoring program. Your objective(s) will partially determine what should be monitored. For example, if the objective is to maintain a minimum number of nesting turtles in a population while also permitting a fishing fleet that unintentionally kills sea turtles to take a certain quantity of fish, then the number of nesting turtles, the number of turtles accidentally killed, and the quantity of fish caught should all be monitored in order to evaluate the efficacy of any regulatory or management scheme implemented to balance the two objectives.

Predictions about how particular decisions will affect the population of interest, as well as other aspects expressed in the objective(s), are inherent to an informed decision. Predictions might come from a formal mathematical expression, or they might be done intuitively in the mind of someone familiar with the system. For example, hypothetically, an expert might anticipate that if fishing nets are required to be set at least *x* meters deep, 20% more gravid females will safely arrive to and depart from the nesting beach and the fishing take will exceed the target value by 10%. This anticipated result from the intuition of an expert is a predictive model just as a complex mathematical expression developed from analysis of multiple data sets is also a predictive model. In each case a prediction. In this simple example, the expert, whether expressed verbally or not, is really thinking that although s/he predicts a 20% increase in the number of nesting turtles, s/he may have derived this from experience suggesting that there will be at least a 5% increase and no more than a 30% increase. This raises another use for monitoring: to measure pertinent outputs from predictive population or fishery models, to see how well one or more models perform in terms of predicting the outcome of a chosen conservation action.

Indices vs. Direct Measurement – Whether surveillance monitoring or a more focused monitoring program is employed, another decision to make is whether to rely on counts (indices to abundance), or to estimate abundance directly by adjusting those counts for detection probability. Both approaches are supported by a large literature of methods for estimating parameters and their confidence intervals. Direct information on abundance facilitates management decisions (e.g., allowable annual take). In addition, because this approach generally requires marking individuals, vital rates can also be estimated. The advantage of indices is that the data are simpler to collect, and trend estimates from these data are relatively unbiased if there is no systematic pattern in detection probability, or the important factors affecting detection probability are measured and used as covariates. For example, BBS observers vary in ability and therefore are included as a covariate in modeling counts of birds over time and space.

The Role of Monitoring – In a decision context, monitoring is used to determine the current state of the system (e.g., population size, fishery catch) and then to assist in making a decision that is possibly dependent on the state of the system (e.g., population status). It is also used to measure how effective the last decision was in terms of meeting the objective(s), as well as to compare how well each of the possibly competing models (statistical or intuitive) did in making predictions. Finally, although experimentation does a better job of providing information for

building predictive models, monitoring program data are often used over time to identify hypotheses for developing new or revised predictive models (Kendall and Moore, 2012; Nichols and Williams, 2006). Because the wide variety of habitats occupied by sea turtles makes it difficult to implement a one-method-fits-all approach to conducting surveys in areas utilized for nesting, foraging, development, transit, etc., in this manual we confine our discussion to approaches used in monitoring nesting populations.

II. DEFINITIONS

Confusion over essential terminology can undermine the usefulness of a text, thus we will clarify our usage at the outset. The term *nesting population* is used to describe the total number of adult females of the same species using a geographically defined nesting beach (or series of beaches) and, by definition, these females would be of the same *stock* because of natal homing instincts (e.g., Meylan et al., 1990; Dutton et al., 1999; Bowen et al., 2005; Dethmers et al., 2006; NRC, 2010). *Population* and nesting population are not synonymous. A nesting population is but one segment of a population, as the latter includes males and other life stages.

Sea turtles utilizing a geographically defined foraging ground constitute an *aggregation* (vs. a population), since the assembled individuals are most likely drawn from multiple stocks of origin. For example, genetic analyses of foraging sea turtles sampled in Union Creek, Bahamas, found that these turtles had originated from (i.e., were hatched on the beaches of) locations as distant as Costa Rica, Mexico, and the USA, and that the proportion of sampled animals related to

DEFINITIONS

Activity (or Nesting Activity): A sea turtle nesting activity refers to any landing by the female on a potential nesting beach, whether or not the landing results in successful egg-laying (see "Nest").

Aggregation: An assembly of individuals of the same species (but not necessarily of the same genetic stock) occupying a particular area; for example, sea turtles encountered at a preferred foraging ground or other developmental habitat.

Index: A statistical indicator providing a representation of the size and/or trend of the nesting population from which the indicator is sampled.

Index Site/Beach: A nesting beach (or series of nesting beaches) where the consistent application of standardized population monitoring protocols ensures that data collected are suitable for long-term analyses of population abundance and/or trend. Sampling strategies at each index site should be structured in a manner that allows inference to the entire nesting population of interest.

Nest: A hole dug by an adult female turtle in which the presence of eggs has been observed or verified.

Nesting Population: Reproductively active adult females of the same species returning predictably to lay eggs at a particular location, by which we mean a geographically defined nesting beach or series of nesting beaches.

Stock: Population(s) that can be characterized as isolated (geographically or temporally) and genetically self-sustaining; for example, North Atlantic loggerheads vs. South Atlantic loggerheads. Nesting stocks (based on mtDNA) are often distinguished from breeding stocks (based on nDNA).

Survey: An assessment of the abundance of individuals in a certain area; for example, a count of sea turtles on a nesting beach or a count of sea turtles observed along a transect line in a foraging habitat.

various points of origin varied annually (Bjorndal and Bolten, 2008). A complete census of stock abundance is challenging because populations associated with a particular stock may frequent widespread foraging grounds and visit nesting beaches distributed over large geographic areas, often involving several sovereign nations.

The specific focus of this manual is the design of surveys of abundance at nesting beaches, including but not limited to the collection of data at *index sites* (accessible sites that host significant and predictable nesting) as a proxy to assess overall population or stock status.

III. ARRIBADAS: A SPECIAL CASE

An *arribada* ("arrival" in Spanish) is characterized by very large numbers of gravid sea turtles coming ashore to nest in a synchronous fashion over a period of typically 2-7 days and nights. The phenomenon is unique to the genus *Lepidochelys* – i.e., Kemp's ridley (*L. kempii*) and olive ridley (*L. olivacea*) sea turtles (see Plotkin, 2007, for a comprehensive discussion). Multiple *arribadas* usually characterize an annual nesting season, with some females participating in more than one event. In general, *arribadas* occur once each month, but the event can also occur more (Hirth, 1980; Ballestero, 1996) or less (Plotkin et al., 1997) frequently.

Conducting a population survey under *arribada* conditions, with hundreds (or thousands) of animals crawling over one another on limited stretches of sandy beach coastline (Figure 2), is challenging at best. Counting turtles comprehensively is impossible, and the tangle of crawls left behind in the sand is generally undecipherable. In the WCR, large *arribadas* once characterized Kemp's ridley nesting in the Gulf of Mexico; e.g., 40,000 or more females are known to have nested in a single day at Rancho Nuevo in Tamaulipas, Mexico, in 1947 (Carr, 1963). Following several decades of over-exploitation and mortality in fisheries, strict conservation measures were implemented to save the species from extinction. Today, remnant populations are rising. More than 10,000 nests have been laid annually at index nesting beaches in Tamaulipas and Veracruz, Mexico, since 2005 (National Marine Fisheries Service et al., 2011).

Recommendations – For details on conducting surveys of abundance and trend, including methodology and analysis, at *arribada* nesting beaches, we recommend the "strip transect in time" method described by Valverde and Gates (1999). See also Gates et al. (1996), Valverde et al. (1998), Fonseca et al. (2009), and Shanker et al. (2003). For insights into monitoring strategies suitable for implementation at very high-density nesting beaches utilized by other species, see Limpus et al. (2003), Jackson et al. (2008), and Sims et al. (2008).



FIGURE 2. Olive ridley (*Lepidochelys olivacea*) *arribada* at Playa Ostional on the Pacific coast of Costa Rica, and a close-up from French Guiana. Photos: (left) Michael Jensen; (right) Guillaume Feuillet.

IV. SURVEY DESIGN

To ensure that the data collected are suitable for decision-making processes, the design of the nesting beach survey is critically important. A useful guide by Congdon and Dunham (1999) may be adapted for our purposes, as follows:

Research and Review – Review the literature and talk to other investigators currently engaged in similar types of studies about logistics, research protocols, quality control plans, and types of data analyses.

- Become familiar with past or similar ongoing research or monitoring programs to learn from their successes and failures, and to avoid duplication of effort;
- Become familiar with the areas of biology, technology, and law and policy that may strengthen (or constrain) your monitoring program; and
- Explore how best to integrate your monitoring effort into a larger research framework, including finding ways to collect, analyze and present data to ensure that the information is useful to others (e.g., for comparison among populations or to use in population models).

Define the Management Question(s) – Carefully and clearly state the problem in the form of a precise question or working hypothesis. The question might be: "What is the trend in the number of turtles nesting on this beach?" Translated into a working hypothesis, the question might read: "The number of adult females arriving each year to nest at this site [beach] is increasing."

Evaluate Approaches – List the potential methodological approaches that might be useful in addressing your question and then rank them based on feasibility, including logistical and financial constraints, available human resources, and so on. Identify and seek to fill gaps in statistical and analytical capacity.

Make a Plan – Write a detailed proposal designed to meet your objectives, implement the approach you have selected, and test your working hypothesis. In this case the proposal will take the form of a population monitoring plan suitable for peer-review and comment, fund-raising, soliciting the necessary permits and/or beach access, and so on.

Prepare for Data Collection – Identify what information needs to be collected, how it will be collected, how it will be evaluated, and how it will be stored and accessed.

- Develop a logistical and quality control plan for data collection; data handling, checking for accuracy, and storage procedures; and data fate, ownership and access, including who will be responsible at each stage and for each procedure;
- Design data sheets that prompt the person collecting data for each measurement (data sheets should be designed with data recording, data entry to a computer file, and data analyses in mind);
- Agree to procedures related to data entry (e.g., enter the data into computer files as soon as possible following its collection in the field), review (e.g., regularly review computer files to detect problems associated with data form design, data entry protocols, and/or with computer files themselves), and correction (e.g., evaluate incoming data for recurring errors – frequent review may reveal unsuspected patterns that, if identified and responded to quickly, provide opportunities to improve research protocol or direction); and
- "Walk through," prior to the actual data collection, as many of the techniques and procedures as possible in order to detect problems with protocols and/or equipment.

Prepare for Field Work – Order needed equipment, including expendable field supplies, as early as possible. Always plan and prepare for the unexpected, such as equipment failure, loss of transportation, accidents, illness, or severe weather, and have emergency plans in place.

In addition to the recommendations made by Congdon and Dunham (1999), Legg and Nagy (2006) also provide an excellent perspective on the design of long-term monitoring in an article aptly entitled: "Why most conservation monitoring is, but need not be, a waste of time." They strongly advocate for an analytical approach and the collection of quantitative rather than qualitative data, and argue for a project design that takes into account the need to measure the accuracy or resolution of data through the use of statistical power analysis⁴. Finally, they provide valuable considerations for the management and execution of a monitoring program, as follows:

Program Management

- Secure long-term funding and commitment (e.g., institutional, political);
- Develop flexible short- and long-term goals;
- Refine your objectives based on changing circumstances, including new information;
- Pay adequate attention to information management;
- Train personnel, including volunteers, on a regular basis to emphasize careful, consistent data collection and entry;
- Describe monitoring sites, objectives, methods and recording protocols in an Annual Report;
- Obtain peer-review and statistical review of research proposals and publications;
- Obtain periodic research program evaluations, and adjust sampling frequency and methodology accordingly; and
- Develop an extensive outreach program; evaluate and build on successes.

Project Design and Field Methodology

- Take an experimental approach to sampling design (e.g., field-test your theories, manipulate variables to test hypotheses, document your results);
- Select methods appropriate to the project's objectives and habitat type(s);
- Minimize physical impact to the monitoring site(s);
- Avoid bias in the selection of long-term monitoring site(s);
- Ensure that field markings are adequate to guard against loss;
- Be assured that you can safely repeat the survey at the same location;
- Be assured that you can safely repeat the survey at the required interval: daily, weekly, monthly, annually see *Survey Implementation, Decide How Often to Count*;
- Blend theoretical and empirical models with the means (including experiments) to validate both;
- Synthesize retrospective, experimental and related studies; and
- Integrate and synthesize with larger and smaller scale research, inventory, and monitoring programs.

⁴ The techniques of statistical power analysis and sample size estimation allow you to decide, while in the process of designing an experiment, (a) how large a sample is needed to enable statistical judgments that are accurate and reliable and (b) how likely your statistical test will be to detect effects of a given size in a particular situation. Performing power analysis and sample size estimation is an important aspect of monitoring because without these calculations, sample size may be too high or too low. If sample size is too low, the experiment will lack the precision to provide reliable answers to the questions it is investigating. If sample size is too large, time and resources will be wasted, often for minimal gain. For additional detail, see http://www.statsoft.com/textbook/power-analysis/?button=2

V. SURVEY IMPLEMENTATION

ESTABLISH THE GEOGRAPHY OF NESTING

Objectives and Constraints – Keeping in mind the goal of collecting data that is useful to decision-makers, the primary reason to monitor a sea turtle nesting population is to determine size and/or trend. Thus, the survey should aim to produce an accurate estimate of the number of females nesting each year so that data among years can be compared. A complete count of every individual turtle successfully nesting each year is ideal, but may not be practical because of any number of logistic and human resource issues, including the reality that turtles may nest on multiple beaches in remote locations or routinely cross national boundaries. Project managers generally have an incomplete understanding of the full geographic range of nesting activity, and the extent to which nesting takes place outside the data collection area (or survey period).

Stock Definitions – According to our definition of a nesting population, members have a greater measure of relatedness in that they are of the same stock. Upon reaching sexual maturity, females exhibit natal homing, returning to lay their eggs on the same beach or coastal region where they were born decades earlier (e.g., Meylan et al., 1990; Bowen et al., 1992, 1993; Lohmann et al., 2008; Browne et al., 2010). Because their daughters, granddaughters, and so on, return to the same beach or coastal region generation after generation, the lineage creates a genetic "signature" (haplotype frequency) associated with the nesting site. This signature is read in maternally-inherited mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA), which is genetic material passed from mother to daughter. Genetic analysis can determine these genomic signatures (e.g., Moritz, 1994; Dutton et al., 1996, 2007), so that one approach to determining the geographic range of the stock to which your nesting population belongs is to conduct a genetic survey of all nesting sites in your region to determine the degree of relatedness among nesting populations.

There are other methods, besides genetic analysis, that may be useful in evaluating the geographic bounds of a nesting population. For example, monitoring the movements of individual turtles using unique marks (e.g., flipper tags or Passive Integrated Transponder [PIT] tags that can be read and reported by colleagues working in other areas) or biotelemetry may provide valuable insight into the full geographic range of a nesting population. In Florida, nesting beach monitoring combined with tagging confirms that leatherback turtles favor expansive continental beaches with open ocean access, and that consecutive nests are laid as much as 80 km apart (Stewart and Johnson, 2006). Thus, evaluating the entire nesting range for this population of leatherbacks would require coverage of a significant area. In contrast, individual hawksbill turtles tend to show greater site fidelity (Horrocks and Scott, 1991; Richardson et al., 1999, 2006), meaning that monitoring a few closely distributed beaches (or cays) may provide access to a majority of members of the target nesting population.

Assumptions – It is often assumed, though seldom demonstrated, that the status of a particular nesting population is an indication of overall stock status; in other words, if the number of reproductively active females is increasing (as determined by nesting beach surveys), the stock at large is also increasing (Figure 3). In the short term this particular assumption is highly unsatisfactory because most females do not nest every year, and the proportion of those that do fluctuates widely among years. These fluctuations are not entirely predictable, but seem to be influenced by the quality of foraging during non-nesting periods (e.g., Limpus and Nicholls, 1988; Saba et al., 2007). Another challenge to relating the status of the nesting population to overall stock status is that a nesting beach survey is, by definition, a tally of reproductively active females, a statistically minor segment of the entire stock (which would include all ages and genders).



FIGURE 3. If, over time, the number of adult females successfully nesting in your survey area each year is significantly increasing, the hope is that the stock at large is rising, as well. But the correlation is confounded by sea turtle life history traits (slow growth, late maturity, long life – meaning that the current cohort of adult females may be subject to very different survival pressures than decades-younger juvenile age classes), inconsistent survey data, and an incomplete understanding of population dynamics, including survival rates, of males and other life history stages. Shown are increasing numbers of hawksbills nesting at Jumby Bay, Antigua (Richardson et al., 2006) and increasing numbers of leatherbacks nesting at index beaches in Florida (Stewart and Johnson, 2006).

Other Considerations – In the end, establishing the geography of nesting is a mapping exercise. Known nesting beaches in the WCR have been spatially described (Dow et al., 2007) and, all things being equal, the greatest amount of survey effort is generally directed toward beaches with the most nesting, thereby generating the most data and reducing uncertainty during analytical processes. Rarely can all nesting beaches be monitored for all species on an annual basis, however, so strategic decisions must be made based on nesting density and phenology (timing), beach accessibility, beach condition, remoteness (deploying survey personnel to remote areas can be expensive, time-consuming, and logistically challenging), and security concerns. Data analysis must also be considered. Factors such as the required sample size and annual variance in data influence which analytical approaches can be used to evaluate the data.

SELECT THE AREA(S) TO BE MONITORED

All nesting beaches cannot be monitored at all times. Ideally, a manager is able to identify one or more accessible, high-density nesting grounds for long-term assessment. Various methods have been reported for determining "high-density" nesting in WCR countries. The methods employed by Moncada et al. (1999) in Cuba are typical, where a preliminary survey of "turtle fishermen and coastal people" was used to identify known nesting areas and these results led to site visits (by land or boat) to, or aerial surveys of, promising areas; finally, "identification of significant nesting in the Doce Leguas Cays" resulted in a program of annual index surveys there. In Barbados, Beggs et al. (2007) relied, in part, on public reports of nesting to a national *Sea Turtle Hotline* to evaluate nesting density at a national scale. In Guadeloupe, potential nesting beaches were first cataloged using aerial photography, then further detail was obtained through interviews and site visits; each beach was given a unique integer identification based on a central GPS position because several beaches have the same local name (Delcroix et al., in review).

Bigger is Better – Remembering the dual objectives of informing national management policy and contributing to broader assessments at population (including males and non-reproductive life stages) and stock (e.g., North Atlantic loggerheads) levels, monitoring efforts should be sufficient to detect trends in nesting population size over time and, ideally, to relate those trends

to the status of the stock as a whole. Because the annual reproductive effort of a particular stock takes place at a large but incompletely known number of nesting beaches, the survey area should encompass as much nesting activity as practicable, given place-based constraints. As large as this area might be, however, it is unlikely to encompass the totality of the reproductive effort. A common approach to this dilemma is to identify the highest density, logistically feasible nesting beach(es) for long-term monitoring as index sites, while also adopting a protocol for less frequent assessment of remote and/or lower density sites known to be frequented by members of the same population or stock (Figure 4) (see *Cautionary Not*e on the next page).

What constitutes a "stock" is not always well defined for sea turtles, and the geographic range over which a stock is distributed is both species-specific (e.g., different for leatherbacks than for hawksbills) and almost certainly spans national borders. In contrast, the legislative framework is national, typically articulated in fisheries or wildlife legislation. Therefore, for legal and practical reasons, the index beach and lower density nesting beaches that you select to monitor are most likely to be under national jurisdiction, even if major nesting beaches for a particular stock are known to be in another country. For this reason, harmonized approaches to population monitoring, tagging and reporting, and data collection, archival, and sharing are important. Whenever possible, major nesting grounds that span national borders should be monitored collaboratively by groups in both countries. For Western Atlantic sea turtle stocks, such collaboration is often facilitated by the Wider Caribbean Sea Turtle Conservation Network (e.g., Eckert and Hemphill, 2005; Bräutigam and Eckert, 2006; Chacón and Eckert, 2007; Dow Piniak and Eckert, 2011; Horrocks et al., 2011).



FIGURE 4. Comprehensive nesting maps (not to scale) for leatherback sea turtles, *Dermochelys coriacea*, in Trinidad, Dominica, and St. Croix (U.S. Virgin Islands), respectively. The size of the purple circles corresponds to nesting activity (<25, 25-100, 100-500, 500-1000, >1000 crawls per year). In each case, long-term tagging of nesting females demonstrates mixing among rookeries, suggesting that monitoring at large colonies (see arrows) can also provide insight into trends at smaller colonies, assuming similar threat regimes at each site. Map source: Dow et al. (2007).

Simple is Better – Once the general area where the surveys are to be conducted is established (e.g., hawksbills are concentrated on offshore cays; ridleys only nest north of the river; leatherback colonies are largest on the windward coast), practical considerations often determine precise survey locations.

The primary consideration should always be the feasibility of continuing the survey effort at a level necessary to statistically appraise abundance and trend. The value of a population assessment program lies in its continuity over decadal scales and, if using an index beach approach, your knowledge of the proportion of the nesting population sampled at each site. It

follows that these long-term efforts face special challenges in terms of staffing, financing, permits, and logistics, and consideration should be given to identifying sustainable funding options, in-kind donations (such as transportation provided by a fisheries or park office), and/or volunteer commitments that can support the survey effort for many years.

Decisions must be made on how best to patrol the beaches (e.g., foot patrol, horseback, allterrain vehicle), based on factors such as beach topography and length, available staff and vehicles (including capacity for vehicle maintenance and repair and the availability of fuel), and possible effects on other species (e.g., nesting seabirds). Permits to conduct the monitoring must be solicited and approved, and appropriate and legal access to the beach for the duration of the monitoring period must be assured. Other considerations (e.g., security, effects of severe weather on beach access, contingency plans related to illness or injury in a remote location) may also play a role in the final choice of monitored location(s).

Cautionary Note – The necessity of evaluating the relative importance of the index site(s) compared to the overall nesting range cannot be over-emphasized. There has been a tendency to conduct long term surveys of a limited section of nesting beach or a limited number of beaches, with the implicit assumption that consistency alone can provide adequate comparative data for trend analyses. However, because habitat use can shift in unpredictable ways both within and among years (e.g., Girondot et al., 2007), limiting coverage based solely on geography is *not* a valid subsampling method unless it is coupled with measures able to validate the proportion of the population using the index site(s) (see *Survey Data Analysis, Validate Your "Index" Selection*). Moreover, if no beach in the territory clearly dominates in terms of its share of nesting, one or a small number of monitored index beaches may produce datasets with low numbers of nests and little ability to detect a trend (Galimberti, 2002). In that case there may be other reasons to maintain regular patrols at low-density sites (e.g., poaching deterrence), but managers should understand that a useful analysis of population abundance and/or trend is unlikely.

CONSIDER SURVEY TIMING AND DURATION OPTIONS

Optimal survey timing is based on accurate *a priori* knowledge of nesting phenology (Figure 5), typically defined by twice-monthly surveys (e.g., see "Protocol A" in SWOT Scientific Advisory Board, 2011) throughout the year during a pre-implementation phase. Most monitoring protocols rely on accurate knowledge of the beginning, peak, and end of the nesting season (see *Survey Implementation, Deciding How Often to Count*), so <u>vigilance concerning these parameters is important</u>.

It is normal for the precise timing of nesting to shift from year to year, but sea surface warming related to climate change is implicated in findings that the median day of nesting by loggerhead turtles in Florida (1989-2003) has become earlier by about 10 days (Weishampel et al., 2004). Similarly, Weishampel et al. (2010) concluded that if Caribbean and/or subtropical Atlantic warming over the nesting season occurs as predicted by climate models (Angeles et al., 2007), sea turtles "should respond with earlier nesting and a change in the duration of their nesting seasons." With this in mind, managers should remain flexible and willing to adapt the monitoring program, as needed, to accommodate new information, changing conditions, etc.

The frequency of conducting counts usually follows from the type of survey chosen. In most cases this will be daily, but in some situations where nests remain visible for extended periods of time (as is generally the case for leatherbacks and green turtles, the largest of the sea turtles), a less frequent schedule may be adopted. Regardless, an effort must be made to determine what proportion of nests might be missed due to sampling schedule and/or observer

error. For surveys relying on morning counts, occasional all-night patrols of the survey area – which allow for turtles to be counted directly and the ratio of successful to unsuccessful nestings (often referred to as the "nest to false crawl ratio", see *Survey Data Analysis, Calculate Conversion Factors*) to be verified – are necessary to quantify the accuracy of morning survey protocols.



FIGURE 5. Accurate information on the seasonality of nesting, illustrated here for hawksbills in Barbados (Beggs et al., 2007), helps to determine the timing and duration of the monitoring effort. All-night patrols designed to encounter nesting females (hawksbill photo: Scott Eckert) provide the most accurate data on the number of turtles and nests laid, but less intensive sampling approaches can provide useful estimates of population trend (if not abundance).

Sampling Approaches – On remote or very long beaches, or when a large number of sites must be monitored, it may be impractical to collect data on a daily basis throughout the nesting season. Girondot (2010a) reviewed existing approaches to estimating population trends from a variety of sampling approaches, including partial counts generated by short periods of intensive monitoring (10-14 consecutive days: Kerr et al., 1999; Jackson et al., 2008; Sims et al., 2008), and concluded that each approach, including his own most recent application (Girondot et al., 2006), suffered from important weaknesses, often associated with unreliable error estimates.

Girondot (2010a) presented a new statistical framework that accounts for variability in survey timing and duration, integrates and improves existing methods, and allows managers to estimate an index of population size (and associated statistical uncertainty) in a way that is "both easy to use and very efficient in answering biological and conservation questions," including determining population size at a particular location (e.g., nesting beach) for migratory species. He concluded that "the strength of this method is to simultaneously use all the information gathered during the monitoring of several beaches, both within a season and between seasons," including counts derived from ground or aerial survey methods (see *Survey Data Analysis, Estimate Abundance*). More recent modeling advances have also been able to address the widespread problem that data collectors do not always distinguish between a record of zero nests (or zero crawls, a "crawl" is the track in the sand left behind by a nesting turtle) and a night (or day) in which no monitoring was conducted (Girondot, 2010b).

In summary, if complete all-night patrol coverage of all nesting habitat during the entirety of the annual nesting season remains an elusive ideal, user-friendly analytical tools are increasingly available to enable the collection of management-relevant data at remote or understaffed sites where 100% beach coverage is impossible.

DECIDE WHAT TO COUNT

Species Identification – Of obvious importance is the ability to distinguish between species (Annex I) so that data can be tallied, categorized, and analyzed on a species-specific basis. Where individual turtles are observed directly, this is not difficult. When activities or nests are counted, observers must be trained to recognize field signs such as the width and symmetry of the nesting crawl, extent of beach disturbance, and so on. Familiarity with local nesting seasons is also helpful, as some species exhibit non-overlapping nesting seasons and can be excluded based on time of year.

For details on species identification, including nest and crawl (track) characteristics by species, see Pritchard and Mortimer (1999), Schroeder and Murphy (1999), Wood (2004), and Chacón et al. (2008).

Index Measurements – A count of the number of nesting females is the prime objective of the monitoring program, but because it is not always possible to count adult turtles directly, three types of index measurements (counts) are suitable for monitoring nesting populations (Table 1). In order of increasing accuracy, these are activity counts (all nesting attempts, whether or not they result in egg-laying; the data can be further refined by reporting only those activities with a body-pit), verified nest counts (with or without recording unsuccessful nesting attempts as a separate category), and direct counts of individual turtles.

Whatever count is used, precautions need to be taken to avoid errors from double-counting, which results in an over-estimate of population size. For nest and activity counts, marking the nest or crawl will minimize or eliminate this error. Crawls can be marked as counted by drawing a line through the crawl in the sand, and nests can be flagged, triangulated, or identified in some other way (Figure 6). Similarly, if you select turtle counts as your index measure, tag loss (typically of greater concern between, rather than within, survey years) can result in double-counting of turtles and presents a serious analytical problem that must be evaluated at each survey location (Balazs, 1982; Frazer, 1983; Limpus, 1992; Bjorndal et al., 1996; Rivalan et al., 2005; NRC, 2010).



FIGURE 6. A leatherback activity is marked as "counted" by deeply incising (such as by dragging a foot) *both* the approach crawl and the return crawl. Individual nests are marked and labeled at Eagle Beach, Aruba, to prevent disturbance by foot and vehicle traffic. Other methods used to mark the location of a nest include placing a stake in the sand, taking a GPS reading, or recording a precise measurement from two permanent landmarks (without marking the nest directly). Photos: (left) WIDECAST; (right) Turtugaruba Foundation.

TABLE 1. Index measures suitable for estimating annual abundance at sea turtle nesting beaches. These measures may be impractical at high-density sites where field signs are obliterated by later nesting females. For *arribada* sites, we recommend the "strip transect in time" method described by Valverde and Gates (1999).

INDEX MEASURE	ADVANTAGES	DISADVANTAGES
Activity counts* * An "activity" is defined as <u>any</u> emergence by a sea turtle onto the nesting beach, <i>whether or not</i> nesting was successful and eggs were laid. Sometimes authors will use the term "false crawl" (cf. Tucker, 1988) or "dry run" (cf. Talbert et al., 1980) to describe an unsuccessful nesting activity.	Easiest to perform, least effort (and expertise) required Not more than once-daily beach coverage is required	 Can be negatively influenced by factors that are not associated with population size, including: a. the number of attempts required for a successful nest (i.e., the nest to false crawl ratio) can be highly variable between species, as well as within and among nesting beaches and within and among years b. clutch frequency (average number of nests per female per year) varies with species, and can vary among nesting beaches and among years c. evidence of the activity can disappear prior to counting due to wind, heavy rain, wave overwash, vehicle or foot traffic, etc. d. some species leave obscure crawl signs (e.g., hawksbills can traverse a pebble beach, leaving little evidence of a track, to deposit eggs deep within beach vegetation), which can result in an underestimate of nesting activity
Nest counts	Documents successful egg-laying only More accurate than an activity count in describing patterns in reproductive output Not more than once-daily beach coverage is required, <u>assuming</u> you can accurately determine a successful nesting (resulting in eggs) after the female has departed	 Documenting clutch frequency (i.e., the average number of nests per female per year) can be influenced by factors that are not associated with population size, including: a. observer error (varying levels of expertise in distinguishing nests-with-eggs from unsuccessful nesting attempts) b. clutch frequency can vary among nesting beaches, as well as among years c. evidence of the nest can disappear prior to counting due to wind, heavy rain, wave overwash, vehicle or foot traffic, etc. d. some species leave obscure crawl signs (e.g., hawksbills can traverse a pebble beach, leaving little evidence of a track, to deposit eggs deep in the shelter of beach vegetation), leading to an underestimate of nesting activity
Turtle counts	Most accurate measure for assessing population size and trend, and for describing demographic variables Data collected most directly relate to manage- ment goals and objectives	 A count of the number of nesting females is the prime objective of the monitoring program; however: a. maintaining complete nightly beach coverage over long-term, decadal scales can be expensive and labor intensive b. protocols suitable for Capture-Mark-Recapture (CMR) analysis (e.g., flipper or PIT tag, other suitable mark) must be adopted to prevent counting the same turtle more than once c. if the probability of encountering a nesting female is below 20%, the error is large

Activity Counts – Activity counts require the least amount of observer expertise and, because activity counts are higher than counts of nests or individual turtles, activity count datasets tend to produce lower random error in trend assessment models. However, to achieve a nesting population abundance estimate you must be able to deduce the number of successful nests from the total number of activities. Sea turtles often come ashore more than once prior to successful egg-laying and this ratio – referred to as the "nest to false crawl ratio" – can vary significantly within and among years based on natural beach conditions (erosion/accretion, wood debris, flooding), levels of disturbance (dogs, lights, onlookers), and other factors.

Tucker (1988) showed how the mean ratio of nests to false crawls varied for leatherback turtles at a northern Caribbean nesting beach as the laying season progressed (10:1 in March, 19.5:1 in April, 5.3:1 in May, 4.1:1 in June, and 6.2:1 in July) and implicated a variety of causal factors, including erosion berms and rocks, nest collapse (dry sand), water in the nest cavity, and "flash-light spooked." Because of this variation, the ratio should, ideally, be estimated for the monitored population (rather than using estimates from another population) and on an annual basis. For detail on how to determine the nest to false crawl ratio, see *Survey Data Analysis, Calculate Conversion Factors*.

High-density sites where crawls are obscured by the crawls of later-arriving turtles present a special scenario. In such cases, nightly activity counts are almost a necessity because morning crawl counts are so problematic. Some managers have solved this challenge by assigning a patrol team to each 1 km of the index site. Each is assigned one-half of the night (1800hr – midnight; midnight – 0600hr) and asked to patrol the kilometer once per hour, marking each turtle with water soluble "body paint" (the type used by make-up artists), and reporting the number of marked (=painted) turtles.⁵

Case Study: Activity Counts – Delcroix et al. (in review) describe a situation common in the WCR, where, in the case of the Guadeloupe Archipelago, sea turtles nest on more than 150 beaches, making it impossible to monitor the entire annual reproductive effort. With existing information on the phenology of nesting by three sea turtle species, potential nesting beaches were documented through aerial surveys, interviews, and site visits. With the stated intention of estimating trends in hawksbill turtle nesting, a monitoring protocol was developed that emphasized coverage of about one-third of known nesting beaches (see Survey Implementation, Decide How Often to Count: Protocol D).

The Archipelago was first separated into 10 sectors based on 133 groups of beaches with geographic proximity, then each beach for each sector was characterized by the species known to nest there (each beach was used by 0 to 3 species, but at least one species nested in each of the 10 sectors). Higher density "A" beaches were monitored during the entire nesting season, while lower density "B" beaches were monitored only during peak nesting. Based on previous analyses of statistical power for this method (Russo and Girondot, 2008, 2009), 6-7 counts per month were made at "A" beaches before and after the peak period, while 14-22 counts were made during the peak period at "B" beaches. A total of 45 beaches were monitored in 2007 and 59 in 2008, which the authors described as "38% of the total number of beaches in the Guadeloupe Archipelago" and representing all sectors, all species, and all Caribbean and Atlantic insular and mainland shores. Monitoring for 2007 began on March 28 and ended on December 23; monitoring for 2008 began on March 3 and ended on November 11.

⁵ This results in an *activity tally* because no effort is made to document egg-laying or to distinguish individual turtles.

In each case, the following information was recorded on the data form: date, beach name, species (based on crawl symmetry and width), age of the crawl (i.e., whether the female had come ashore that night or prior to that night), and if the female had successfully nested or not. Confirmation of egg-laying proved "very difficult to interpret in the field" and the analysis, therefore, focused only on activity counts. From these data, the authors were able to estimate the number of nests for 45 beaches in 2007 as 3,823 (95% CI: 1,925-6,415) and for 59 beaches in 2008 as 2,300 (95% CI: 1,435-4,742), values that can now be used over time to assess trends over this large, diffuse nesting landscape.

Nest Counts – Nest counts require demonstrated expertise in distinguishing a landing that results in egg-laying from one that may have advanced to the body-pitting or even nest excavation stage, but that did not result in egg-laying. Careful training of survey personnel and diligence in evaluating whether a nesting attempt resulted in egg deposition is essential, and survey personnel should be regularly (at least annually) field-tested for this ability.

There are several ways to confirm the deposition of eggs at a particular location: the observer witnesses the egg-laying, the observer confirms presence of eggs soon after deposition (e.g., skilled personnel carefully locate the nest cavity and remove only a sufficient amount of sand to observe the presence of eggs), the observer confirms eggs post-hatching (e.g., eggs are encountered by excavation [Figure 7], eggs or eggshells are revealed by poaching or predators, eggs are exposed by erosion), or the observer documents hatchlings. It is essential to know clutch frequency for the target population, or to be able to estimate this parameter by on-site means or by using accurate data collected on the same species from a long-term monitoring program in the same geographic region. It is also essential to quantify the annual variation around that average.



FIGURE 7. Verifying the successful deposition of eggs (shown here as nest excavation post-hatching) is required if nest counts are used as the index measurement, but beach monitoring need not be conducted on a nightly basis if patrollers become proficient at "reading" field signs associated with successful nesting. In contrast, nightly beach monitoring is unavoidable if direct counts of gravid females are selected as the index measurement. Photos: (left) Hawksbill nest excavation in Belize: Wildlife Trust; (right) Green turtle nesting in Costa Rica: Didiher Chacón.

Finally, factors (see Table 1) that can reduce detection of a nesting event must be quantified as a statistical measure of error (e.g., you should be able to say that the number of nests you think were laid will not differ from the true population value by more than, say, 5% [the margin of error] 90% of the time [the confidence interval]). Error is most pronounced when nightly patrols do not continue until dawn, in which case an early morning patrol is necessary to complete the

nesting tally from the previous night; when ambient conditions are such that turtles are missed even during all-night patrols (e.g., pebble shorelines or beaches strewn with seaweed can obscure crawl signs, beaches with narrow sandy platforms can shelter egg-laying females in dense vegetation with little evidence of a crawl, beaches routinely wave-washed can erase crawl signs between regular patrols), in which case daylight patrollers should search carefully for crawl or nest signs and mark potential nest sites to monitor them for hatchling emergence; and in cases where nesting is known to extend beyond the patrol area, in which case regular (but not necessarily daily) surveys of marginal habitats are needed to confirm the percentage of nests missed, and so on.

Case Study: Nest Counts - Tortuguero, a globally important nesting beach for green turtles on the Caribbean coast of Costa Rica (Figure 8), is a classic example of a nesting beach that is too long (35.6 km) to be patrolled on a nightly basis in its entirety for the purpose of tagging every nesting female. The history and logic of subsampling this location to estimate population trends over time is described by Troëng and Rankin (2005), who report that nest transect surveys to record nests laid the previous night had been conducted at ca. weekly intervals along 18 km of the beach since 1971 and, since 1986, nest transect surveys had been conducted along the entire 35.6 km (Tortuguero rivermouth [N10°35.51, W083°31.40] to Parismina [N10°19.04, W083°21.39]). After Jalova lagoon (N10°21.46, W083°23.41) opened up to the sea and the southern 6 km became separated from the main nesting beach in 1994, nest transect surveys were analyzed between 1994-1996 and 1998 that allowed the authors to conclude that <1% of nests had been deposited south of the lagoon since it opened up to the sea. Therefore, 29.6 km surveys (35.6 minus 6 km) were used as "entire beach surveys" since 1994. The authors further noted that "during some surveys in 1995 (n=3), 1996 (n=8), 1997 (n=16) and 1998 (n=1), the northern 5.4 km of beach were not surveyed", so that nest counts had to be corrected by adding the proportion of nests deposited along the northern 5.4 km, during the same month, as determined from 1995-2001 surveys.

By carefully explaining their methodology, making an attempt to field-test their assumptions about when and where nesting was occurring, and using appropriate analytical methods, Troëng and Rankin (2005) were able to show that while green turtle nest numbers show large interannual variation, "nesting along the entire beach has increased with an estimated 61% since 1986" (Troëng and Rankin, 2005). Calculating "a mean of 104,411 green turtle nests per year deposited along the entire Tortuguero beach (range 37,395-149,569 nests)" between 1999 and 2003, the authors then used a range of values published for clutch frequency at Tortuguero (i.e., 2.8-6.0 nests [clutches of eggs] per female per year with the wide range attributed to some authors taking no account of tag loss) to estimate a lower (17,402) and upper (37,290) mean number of nesting females per year (Figure 8 a,b).



FIGURE 8. Location of Tortuguero Beach, Costa Rica, with trends in the number of nests [clutches] deposited by green turtles over time on (a) the northern 18 km and (b) the entire 35.6 km beach. Source: Troëng and Rankin (2005).

Turtle Counts – Complete turtle counts are the most accurate measure of nesting population size, but this option requires the most intensive surveying effort – typically all-night beach patrols designed to encounter every nesting female. For nesting populations with small to moderate numbers of turtles, this is a feasible approach (e.g., Boulon et al., 1996; Starbird et al., 1999; Richardson et al., 2006; Harris et al., 2010). For larger populations, a useful alternative is to focus the tagging effort on an index beach, with less intensive monitoring of lower density sites (see *Case Study: Turtle Counts*, below). In either case, each turtle encountered is uniquely marked for positive identification over time, usually by flipper-tagging and/or by inserting a Passive Integrated Transponder (PIT) tag into the animal (see Annex II).

Case Study: Turtle Counts – Barbados, the easternmost island in the West Indian archipelago, hosts one of the largest hawksbill sea turtle rookeries in the WCR and, given its geographic position and prevailing currents, "is likely to be a significant contributor to foraging grounds throughout the region" (Beggs et al., 2007). Having determined that monitoring nesting on every beach in the nation was impossible, the objective was to assess activity at high-density nesting grounds as an index of national trends. To identify where nest density was greatest, the Barbados Sea Turtle Project (BSTP), based at the University of the West Indies, established a *Sea Turtle Hotline* in 1987 and encouraged citizens to report nesting activity by calling a cell phone number. The advantage of the *Hotline* was that activity was reported island-wide and year-round, but the disadvantage was the input was biased against more isolated beaches. Notwithstanding, it was clear that "the most significant" hawksbill nesting was occurring at Needham's Point (1.5 km, 13°04' 41.33" N, 59°36' 32.69" W) and that additional high-density nesting was concentrated along the western and southwestern coasts (Figure 9).

In 1992, year-round, early morning surveys (06:00 to 08:00 hr) of Needham's Point began. In 1997, patrollers initiated an all-night (20:00 to 04:00 hr) hourly patrol of this site during peak nesting (1 June-30 September) and 16 additional high-density beaches were also surveyed either once or twice during the night between 20:00 and 04:00 hr or in the early morning over the same time period (1 June-30 September) every year. Recognizing the constraints⁶, the objective was to identify and count "all females [using] the index beach over the monitoring period, and to record all nests made by each female", while the main objective of less consistent monitoring at additional high-density sites was to "reduce the incidence of poaching and to mitigate against threats to nesting females and eggs as a result of extensive coastal development (e.g., artificial lights causing disorientation, coastal armouring resulting in falls and entrapment, narrow beaches adjacent to roads resulting in collisions with vehicles, erosion causing egg exposure inter alia)." However, "since day patrols (05:00-17:00 hr) covered beaches that were not patrolled the night before, all high-density nesting beaches were visited at least once in every 24 hr period and nest counts were reliable." Finally, lower density beaches, primarily along the northwest, east, and southeast coasts were patrolled "opportunistically" in order to record nests and the Hotline continued to provide additional data on nesting activity.

As a result of this carefully crafted multi-pronged approach, the BSTP was able to flipper-tag 1,179 nesting turtles between 1997 and 2004, enabling an analysis of female morphometrics, internesting periods, observed and estimated clutch frequencies, nest:crawl ratios, and inter-

⁶ According to Beggs et al. (2007), "While every effort to witness all nesting activities was made, turtles were occasionally missed. This was because the threat of poaching of nesting females still occurred on Barbados, and protection of nesting females occasionally required observers to remain with a turtle until she left the beach, which sometimes resulted in other turtles being missed. Similarly, when several turtles emerged simultaneously, one may have been missed while data were collected from the other turtles. Females also occasionally nested outside of patrol hours (before 20:00 hr or after 04:00 hr) and were therefore not individually identified, but the tracks could always be identified to species."

annual remigration intervals. Data were analyzed using Microsoft Excel and SPSS Graduate Pack 13.0. All data met normality requirements or were transformed prior to analysis as appropriate (Zar, 1999), the statistical significance level was set at p<0.05, and means were reported with standard deviations (±SD) (Beggs et al., 2007).

The index site monitoring protocol also enabled the authors to estimate nesting population size and trend: "The current estimated total population size of adult females using Barbados as a nesting ground was calculated using a mean annual cohort size calculated from the years 2003 and 2004. The mean number of females estimated to nest annually on the index beach was 94 and on all beaches island-wide (including the index beach) was 506. The accuracy of the estimated annual cohort sizes in 2003 and 2004 in Table [9] was supported by an annual nest count of over 2,000 nests in each of these two years. The cohort estimates were then multiplied by the mean remigration interval for the population [2.47 yr] to give an estimate of 232 females nesting on the index beach alone, and a total of 1,250 females nesting on Barbados as a whole."⁷ Finally, the authors were able to conclude that, "Data from the index beach indicate that the number of nests may have increased as much as 8-fold" since 1992.



FIGURE 9. Left: Map of Barbados showing the Needham's Point index beach and high-density nesting zones on the west (Speightstown to Fitts Village) and southwest (Rockley to Dover) coasts. Right: Estimated number of nesting hawksbills utilizing the Needham's Point index beach and the number of hawksbills nesting island-wide (including the index beach) between 1997, when all-night patrols began, and 2004, based on a calculated average clutch frequency of 4.1 clutches per female per year. Source: Beggs et al. (2007).

Cautionary Note – Regardless of what is counted, remember that zero is an important number! If monitoring occurs but no activities (crawl signs), nests, or turtles are observed, a value of zero should always be recorded on the data form.

DECIDE HOW OFTEN TO COUNT

Because managers do not have access to entire sea turtle populations, they must make important decisions on the basis of a relatively small amount of sample data. To ensure that these sample data are as useful as possible, informed decisions about where, when, what, and how often to count are essential. To this end, the State of the World's Sea Turtles "Minimum Data Standards for Sea Turtle Nesting Beach Monitoring" (SWOT Scientific Advisory Board, 2011) describes four basic monitoring protocols for non-*arribada* sites and identifies analysis tools as-

⁷ Online tools are also available to assist managers in generating abundance estimates, see *Survey Data Analysis, Estimate Abundance*.

sociated with each (these tools are online at <u>http://seaturtlestatus.org/data/standards;</u> see *Survey Data Analysis, Estimate Abundance*). In each case, a "count" (once per week, three times per week, etc.) must be a complete count of activities, nests or females for that date, meaning that partial night patrols must be accompanied by comprehensive dawn patrols to record missed events.

Remember that these monitoring protocols describe the *minimum effort* required to generate count data that will produce annual estimates of total abundance (whether the index measure is activities, nests or turtles) with an acceptable level of confidence, and that "increasing your monitoring effort above the levels described will improve confidence in your abundance estimates and will improve your ability to detect trends in the nesting population" (SWOT Scientific Advisory Board, 2011).

The error surrounding your estimate of abundance measures the quality of the estimate. You want this error to be as small as possible. Error can vary a great deal, but the number of days the beach is monitored and the number of turtles nesting apparently explains about 98% of this variation. Delcroix et al. (in review) conclude that when the total number of nests on the beach is about 10, it requires at least 50 days of monitoring to achieve an estimate with a minimally acceptable margin of error ($CV^8 < 0.25$). In contrast, when the total number of nests is higher than 100, 20 monitoring days can be sufficient to estimate abundance with a much higher degree of confidence (CV < 0.05).

In deciding how often to count, evaluate and select the monitoring protocol (B, C, D, E - see below) that best fits your situation. If no information is available on when the nesting season begins, peaks and/or ends, start by conducting a full-year survey of potentially important habitats. Record evidence of nesting activity "at least once every 15 days or nights throughout the year" ("Protocol A" in SWOT Scientific Advisory Board, 2011) and confirm species present by direct observation or crawl signs. For details on species identification, including nest and crawl (track) characteristics, see Pritchard and Mortimer (1999), Schroeder and Murphy (1999), Wood (2004), Chacón et al. (2008), and Choi and Eckert (2009). See also Annex I and Annex II.

Once you know when the nesting season starts, peaks, and ends and you have selected your index beaches for long-term monitoring (see *Survey Implementation, Select the Area(s) to be Monitored*), the SWOT Scientific Advisory Board (2011) describes four monitoring protocols that can be applied to populations that exhibit a defined "peak season." The choice is typically one of cost, effort and logistics, being careful to select a methodology that you believe is most likely to be maintained over decadal scales. Note that only Protocol B is applied to populations that show <u>no</u> obvious peak in nesting activity during the year (i.e., the best available information suggests that nesting is equally distributed year-around).

Protocol B: The timing of the annual reproductive effort is known and can be described as either a typical bell-shaped curve or as year-around nesting with no discernible peak – In this case, adapted from Russo and Girondot (2009), the simplest methodology is to monitor the nesting population (either in its entirety or at one or more index sites) by counting activities, nests or females a minimum of three times per week throughout the full nesting season (diagram on next page). Importantly, increasing the number of surveys each week reduces error (improves accuracy and, therefore, confidence) in the analytical results.⁹

⁸ CV = Coefficient of Variation, reported as the ratio of the standard deviation to the mean.

⁹ Diagrams on pages 24-26 are excerpted from "Minimum Data Standards for Sea Turtle Nesting Beach Monitoring, ver. 1.0" (SWOT Scientific Advisory Board, 2011) and are used with permission.



Protocol C: The nesting season is known to exhibit a discernible and predictable peak – In this case (below), adapted from Russo and Girondot (2009), the heterogeneous monitoring scheme is more complex than Protocol B, but the advantage is that it may reduce the number of surveys days required to generate nesting abundance estimates with acceptable error. In this protocol, monitoring is conducted one out of every 15 days *outside* of the known nesting season; three times per week during the first month of the nesting season; once per week during the middle of the nesting season (i.e., when peak nesting occurs); three times per week during the last month of the nesting season; and, finally, one count per 15 days thereafter.



Protocol D: Numerous, separated nesting beaches are used by the same nesting population and it is not possible to monitor all sites at all times – In this case, 100% monitoring of an index beach <u>or</u> the use of a standardized subsampling regime is advised.

The index beach approach, by definition, assumes that annual abundance patterns observed by comprehensive monitoring at the index site closely reflect a broader pattern that occurs at all other beaches used by the same nesting population (see *Survey Data Analysis, Validate Your "Index" Selection*; see also Limpus, 2008). In contrast, more diffuse coverage across multiple sites, followed by aggregate analysis of abundance and trends, can be more useful in situations where natural processes of erosion and accretion eliminate nesting grounds on the scale of years (i.e., shorter than the decadal timeframe needed to establish nesting population trends); where nesting turtles show lower fidelity to particular nesting sites; or where several dispersed sites host nesting, but none at sufficiently high levels to warrant designation as an index beach.

Under these scenarios, "a more favorable protocol would consist of monitoring many sites at low levels of survey effort and then analyzing abundance estimates across sites" (SWOT Scientific Advisory Board, 2011), as illustrated below:





nesting activities

Protocol E: Where access and/or other logistical challenges make prolonged monitoring events impractical or impossible, intensive monitoring is conducted during the period of highest nesting density – To implement this protocol, a mid-season survey resulting in a complete count of nesting females during a (minimum) two-week period (longer, if possible) can be used to calculate a mean value (± standard deviation) for the number of females per night to provide an index for each nesting season. This protocol, while potentially the easiest to implement, is also the least robust, especially if the survey is restricted to the minimum two-week period. Longer survey periods (e.g., see Limpus et al., 2003; Jackson et al., 2008; Sims et al., 2008) can strengthen the analytical result, but without previously established information on nesting phenology at the index site, error will be high using this method (Gratiot et al., 2006).



VI. SURVEY DATA ANALYSIS

CALCULATE CONVERSION FACTORS

The conversion of raw data to an estimate of sea turtle abundance often requires conversions that depend on the type of data collected (Table 1). Among the most common conversions are those associated with estimating nest counts from total activity counts and/or estimating the number of individual females from nest counts.

To convert total activity counts to nest counts, a reliable estimate of the ratio of successful to unsuccessful nestings must be available. To convert nest counts to individual turtle counts, the average number of nests per turtle per year, termed "clutch frequency," must be known or accurately estimated. For example, applying a known average nest to false crawl ratio of 4:1 to 200 documented nesting activities estimates 160 nests and 40 false crawls. Further applying a clutch frequency of four nests per turtle per year suggests that only 40 individual turtles were responsible for the 200 activities (Alvarado and Murphy, 1999).

Optimally, the nest to false crawl ratio and the clutch frequency are calculated annually for each nesting population; however, it is not uncommon to calculate these parameters over a period of years and then, especially if the ratio shows little variability among years, to apply an average value to subsequent years. In the absence of site-specific values, average ratios and clutch frequencies calculated from intensive surveys at nearby nesting colonies (for the same species and in similar habitats; e.g., developed mainland coast, undeveloped offshore cay, etc.) are acceptable. When reporting results, always be explicit about how and where the conversion factors were obtained.

Convert Activity Counts to Nest Counts – The most basic sea turtle nesting survey consists of regular morning beach patrols to document the number of nesting crawls (tracks) visible in the sand. However, not all nesting attempts result in the deposition of eggs. When the turtle returns to the sea without laying eggs, the event is often referred to as a "false crawl." Direct calibration of the nest to false crawl ratio can be accomplished in several ways:

Examination – Interpret field signs surrounding the nesting crawl to determine the likelihood and probable location of an egg chamber.¹⁰ This method requires experience and does not work equally well for all species. See Schroeder and Murphy (1999) and FFWCC (2007).

Confirmation – Carefully remove an amount of sand sufficient to reveal the crown of the uppermost egg in the chamber, then immediately replace the sand in reverse sequence to ensure that the sand closest to the eggs remains the same. Beggs et al. (2007) describe the process as follows: "Any indication of turtle activity (i.e., tracks, sand disturbed in a way that was characteristic of nesting) was documented and the presence of eggs confirmed through careful digging by hand." The disadvantage of this technique is that it can require a significant amount of effort, especially with large numbers of nesting crawls and especially with leatherback and green turtles, which dig the deepest chambers. Locating hawksbill nests, often laid deep in the shelter of beach vegetation, presents its own set of challenges. Finally, if eggs are not located there is no assurance that eggs were not laid – only that you could not locate them. This technique requires skilled personnel able to "read" the covering and camouflaging signs left by the female as she completes the nesting process and exits the body pit, and extreme care must be taken not to break any egg(s) while looking for the nest.

Marking – Flag, triangulate, document using GPS readings, or otherwise mark potential nest sites for observation. After an expected period of incubation¹¹, monitor each site for hatchlings or signs of emergence. If no hatchlings emerge (or you never see them because, for example, foot traffic or rain obliterated the little crawls), you are still left with the task of excavation, but at a reduced scale since some potential nest sites will have been confirmed by a successful hatch. The disadvantages of this technique include excavation effort (see Figure 7), lengthy field seasons (i.e., watching for hatchlings two months or more after the last nesting), inadvertent exposure of a still-incubating clutch (which can harm developing embryos) if you dig into a nest prematurely, and the fact that a most likely unknowable percentage of potential nests will be lost to routine cycles of coastal erosion, poaching, and so on prior to clutch confirmation.

Subsampling – Conduct all-night patrols of an index beach on a sampling schedule that should be determined in consultation with a statistician. All-night patrols must be conducted frequently enough so that turtles completing a nest in the fastest known "turn-around-time" are intercepted (generally this means leaving no area unpatrolled for more than 45-60 minutes), and the number of successful vs. unsuccessful nesting crawls directly recorded. The number of patrol nights necessary to provide a statistically viable result will depend on the density of nesting and the probability of encountering a turtle, among other factors.

Inference – Take advantage of existing information on species-specific nest to false crawl ratios from previous research conducted at the index site, or at a nearby beach (including a beach with similar characteristics in a neighboring range State). Because of natural variability

¹⁰ If the turtle clearly crawled onto the beach and then returned to the sea without making any attempt to create a body-pit or to excavate a chamber, the activity can be recorded as a "false crawl" without further investigation.

¹¹ This might typically range from 50 to 70 days depending on species, sand temperature (related to nest depth, vegetation/shade), sand compaction, rain, etc. and the mean incubation period may vary between years.

in the ratio within and between sites and years, the disadvantage here is that there is no way to know how close the borrowed estimate is to the true value. Notwithstanding, it can be a place to start, with the recognition that determining an accurate *in situ* value will be a priority.

Convert Nest Counts to Turtle Counts – When calculating clutch frequency, remember that the average number of observed nestings is rarely equivalent to the true measure of biological clutch frequency. Even when index sites are intensely monitored on a nightly basis, some percentage of nesting is likely to take place before the first day or after the last day of monitoring, outside the boundaries of the index beach(es), during daylight hours, and so on (although in the latter case the nests is likely to be discovered during the next patrol cycle).

Reported values of clutch frequency will vary according to the thoroughness of detection capabilities of a given monitoring program. Observed Clutch Frequency (OCF), defined as the number of observed, confirmed nesting events for an individual turtle, will be an underestimate of the true value if the probability of a nesting turtle escaping detection is high. To address this bias, techniques are available to determine Estimated Clutch Frequency (ECF).

For example, knowing the mean internesting period for loggerhead turtles on Little Cumberland Island, Georgia, to be 13 days (and the minimum observed interval to be eight days), Frazer and Richardson (1985) added an extra nest to the OCF of any turtle missing from the beach for more than 21 days (i.e., 13 + 8 = 21). Knowing, as well, that a turtle seen crawling but not nest-ing on a given evening would likely return to nest during the next few evenings, one clutch was also added to the OCF of any turtle seen crawling on the beach but not observed to nest that night or during the following eight nights. Bias is still possible, however, because ECF is unable to account for nests that occurred before the first day or after the last day of monitoring (Briane et al., 2007; but see the subsampling method of Reina et al., 2002).

Field directors at Babunsanti, a remote and highly dynamic 6-km nesting beach in the Marowijne Estuary, Suriname, used a slightly different approach. Leatherback nesting peaks during the rainy season, and the beach is monitored from a field camp in the Galibi Nature Reserve. Hilterman and Goverse (2005) reported a mean observed internesting period (OIP) of $9.6\pm1.0 \text{ days}$ (n=181), a mean OCF of $1.6\pm1.0 \text{ nests}$ (range 1-7, n=645 females), and they observed that 63.6% (n=410) of females were seen nesting only once (Figure 10). Applying the techniques of Reina et al. (2002), they calculated an ECF of $4.1\pm1.8 \text{ nests}$ (n=140) for turtles observed nesting twice or more "by dividing the number of days in between the first and last nesting dates for an individual by the mean OIP of 9.6, and adding one for the first [nest]." At more intensely monitored Western Atlantic leatherback nesting sites, OCF ranges from 5-7 (Boulon et al., 1996; Tucker, 1988), which both highlights the importance of converting to an



FIGURE 10. From left to right: observed internesting periods (OIP), observed clutch frequency (OCF), and estimated clutch frequency (ECF) for leatherbacks nesting at Babunsanti, Suriname, in 2004 (Hilterman and Goverse, 2005).

ECF when data are incomplete and illustrates how easy it is, even using an ECF, to significantly over-estimate population size when individual reproductive histories cannot be known.

In situations where direct counts are impossible, Rivalan et al. (2006) computed Total Clutch Frequency (TCF) by adapting the 'stop-over duration' method used in studies of population density of migratory birds (Schaub et al., 2001). This method relies on parameter estimates of capture probabilities, survival probabilities, and duration of residence of individuals prior to first detection that are derived from Capture-Mark-Recapture (CMR) models. Briane et al. (2007) developed a further method for computing the distribution of TCF by combining information on OCF and monitoring effort with estimates of capture probability to estimate TCF and nesting female population sizes. They also evaluated the effect of including one-time nesters on population estimates of TCF. Fossette et al. (2008) expanded this method to address situations where two distinct categories of females (faithful and erratic) use the same nesting beach; such a situation is observed for leatherback turtles nesting in French Guiana (see Russo, 2008-2009).

Tucker (2010) demonstrated the usefulness of satellite telemetry data in estimating clutch frequency for loggerhead turtles nesting in Florida, emphasizing that "the revised estimates of clutch frequency can enable refined estimates of population size in management and recovery plans."

Whatever approach you take, you must be able to describe and defend your conversion and a measure of the accuracy of the conversion value should always accompany your estimate.

VALIDATE YOUR "INDEX" SELECTION

Because it is unlikely that your index beach supports all nesting by the target population each year, an index assessment is a type of subsampling in which you estimate nesting population size and/or trend at a particular location (the index beach) and then assume, with verification, that the rest of the population or stock follows the same trend. As described earlier, subsampling can be based on geography, timing, or both, but it can be particularly challenging to provide quantitative support for the assumption that the estimates within the index area are predictably linked to overall population trends. *As a rule, you must prove these assumptions each year for each species.*

Consider that you have been given the responsibility to monitor a nesting population where gravid females distribute their nests along 30 km of coastline. The 30 km distance is too great to be patrolled intensively, so you decide to subsample using all-night foot patrol of a fixed 3 km of high-density nesting habitat every night, operating under the assumption that these 3 km are an index (a direct reflection) of overall nesting trends.

One way to test this assumption is to schedule an <u>annual</u> comprehensive "snapshot" survey of the entire 30 km at some point well after the period of peak nesting activity (but before nesting ends). We will refer to this as a "wide area survey." The wide area survey can provide valuable information about the proportion of nesting that occurs outside the regularly patrolled 3 km index area, as well as some perspective on how closely the index data reflect overall nesting trends.

Note: Because turtles do not typically distribute their nests uniformly along the coast, it would not be accurate to multiply the number of turtles nesting (or the number of nesting activities observed) in the 3 km index by 10 in order to estimate the number of turtles nesting in 30 km.

Methodology – To utilize the wide area survey to evaluate population size, recognize that there are a number of variables that can affect the accuracy of your estimate. These include: (i) whether or not the wide area survey encompasses the full range of nesting habitat for the nest-ing population of interest, (ii) the nature of the survey method selected (e.g., flying at 200 m elevation at 100 knots may yield different values than a careful foot patrol), and (iii) the extent to which field signs are equally observable at every location. If you can calibrate and compensate for these errors in your methodology and analysis, your ability to provide an accurate appraisal of total nesting based on at least one well-surveyed index area and at least one (annual) wide area survey will improve.

Be Efficient – The annual survey should be as large as practicable, and the entire wide area survey (30 km in our example) must take place on the same day.

Be Consistent – The survey method must be uniform throughout; e.g., you cannot survey one section by vehicle, another section on foot, and another section by boat or from the air. Reliance on multiple survey methods introduces error that is difficult to counteract. A complete foot survey, if practicable, is likely to be the most accurate.

Be Aware – Ideally, all nesting activities should be equally observable throughout the survey area. In other words, on the day of the wide area survey there should be an equal chance that field signs can be seen and counted at all locations. If one section of beach receives high levels of visitation (where heavy foot traffic tends to erase evidence of a nesting crawl, cf. Figure 11) or more extreme wave wash than another section of beach, you cannot assume that an observer will be able to document with equal accuracy in both sections the field signs associated with a nesting activity that occurred one week earlier. One approach to reducing this error is to characterize beach sections by their capacity to retain field signs. Such characterization can be as simple as Low, Medium or High, but effort should be expended to measure what each level means and to ensure that the intensively patrolled index area includes each of these areas in roughly the same proportion that they occur throughout the entire 30 km.



FIGURE 11. Sea turtle species and beach characteristics affect field signs, crawl longevity, and detection probability. Shown here is a leatherback sea turtle crawl clearly visible on a wide sandy beach in Aruba and a loggerhead sea turtle crawl less visible on a rocky, footprint-strewn beach in Bonaire. Photos: (left) Turtugaruba Foundation; (right) Sea Turtle Conservation Bonaire.

Analysis – To use your index area dataset in combination with the annual wide area survey to estimate total nesting population size (TNPS), every effort must be made to minimize the number of activities missed because they were not observable (e.g., field signs lost to wind, surf or heavy rain; no track visible on a rocky beach; nesting deep within beach forest).

$$TNPS = [A * C/B] * (D/C)$$

Where:

- **A** = Total count of all activities visible¹² on the day of the annual wide area survey (30 km in our example);
- **B** = Total count of all activities visible within the index area (3 km in our example) on the day of the wide area survey, using the same method as the wide area survey;
- **C** = Total count of all activities visible within the index area based on a careful foot-patrol on the day of the annual wide area survey¹³; and
- **D** = Total count of all activities within the index area for the <u>entire</u> nesting season

Validation – By undertaking the annual wide area survey, you are better able to validate – or least critically evaluate – the usefulness of relying on your index area as representative of population trends in a larger context. In addition, data will be available to you regarding the proportion of nesting occurring outside the index area, threats present in these areas, and other details useful to management.

ESTIMATE ABUNDANCE

Having made the decision, based on stated goals and objectives, to monitor sea turtle nesting at index site(s) (or to monitor an entire nesting colony, as practicable), the timing and "shape" of the nesting season are known (that is, you know when nesting starts and ends and whether the season is "bell-shaped" with a defined seasonal peak or continues year-around with no peak in activity), and the methodology best suited to facilitate an estimate of population size and trend has been selected and implemented, the next step is to interpret the collected data.¹⁴

To build capacity for monitoring sea turtle populations, promote best practices with regard to tagging and record-keeping, and facilitate collaboration among range States with regard to data sharing, documenting international movements, and assessing population status and trend, WIDECAST maintains a regional Marine Turtle Tagging Centre in Barbados (Horrocks et al., 2011). A variety of online tools are available, including standard guidelines for sea turtle tagging (Eckert and Beggs, 2006) and database management software to help standardize data collection, archival, and analysis (Eckert and Sammy, 2008). The software was developed using Microsoft Access[™], but users need not be proficient in Access[™] in order to utilize it. Visit <u>http://www.widecast.org/management/regional-tagging-centre/</u> to download the software, which includes standard data forms, as well as data analysis modules that generate summary reports and allow the export of data into other analysis formats (e.g., spreadsheets and statistical programs).

¹² "All activities visible" means *any* body-pit still visible in the sand, not just the activities of the previous night.

¹³ "C" is meant to represent a known and accurate count of all field signs visible in the census area. If your annual wide area census of the entire 30 km is done on foot, "B" and "C" will be the same. However, if the annual wide area census is done by another method (e.g., aerial, boat, vehicle), the objective here is to calibrate the accuracy of the wide area census methodology against the known "C."

¹⁴ For background on basic statistical concepts, including interpreting sampling data, websites such as "Stat Trek" <u>http://stattrek.com/estimation/estimation-in-statistics.aspx?Tutorial=AP</u> can be very useful.

Once nesting data have been collected, assembled and checked for completeness and accuracy, analytical software developed by Prof. Marc Girondot for the State of the World's Sea Turtles (SWOT) "Minimum Data Standards for Sea Turtle Nesting Beach Monitoring" initiative can be downloaded for PC and Mac computers from <u>http://seaturtlestatus.org/data/standards</u>. Data providers can download the software directly to their personal computers to run the analyses and generate outputs, including seasonal abundance estimates. To run the program, users are directed to drop in a *.txt file of nest counts by date counted, and the software provides estimates of total (annual) abundance with confidence intervals. Results can be emailed directly to the SWOT Database Manager for inclusion into the global SWOT database, if desired.

Generally speaking, analytical results are more reliable and therefore more useful as more data are incorporated. Therefore, historical information should also be examined for the degree to which it "fits" the scenarios described above. Whether you select a model supported by the SWOT "Minimum Data Standards for Sea Turtle Nesting Beach Monitoring" initiative, or any number of other potentially useful models, data collection methods that do not conform to the requirements of the model should be excluded from the analysis. For example, you might focus on a particular species, or make use of data collected only during certain periods or at certain sites where data collection methods were standardized over time and reporting was reliable.

To illustrate this point, consider the work of del Monte-Luna et al. (2011). The authors note that direct surveys of hawksbill turtles has been carried out along more than 200 km of the Campeche, Mexico, coast since 1977; however, they restrict their analysis to data collected during 1980-2010 at Isla Aguada, Sabancuy, Chencán and Punta Xen (Figure 12) because these sites (i) are spatially and temporally continuous, (ii) use standardized working methodology (starting in 1980), and (iii) account for 80% of all recorded nesting hawksbills in Campeche and 50% of the total sightings of nesting females in the Yucatán Peninsula. The authors also had the



FIGURE 12. Mean annual nest density of hawksbill turtles along the Southern Gulf of Mexico (taken from Dow et al., 2007). The primary sea turtle camps in Campeche are indicated numerically. Source: del Monte-Luna et al. (2011).

benefit of previous research showing that the number of nesting females in Campeche, Yucatán and Quintana Roo showed strong synchrony over time, and therefore the number of nesting females along the Campeche coast could reasonably be considered as representative of the entire nesting population of the Southern Gulf of Mexico; had access to existing estimates of clutch frequency, internesting interval, and other biological parameters; and were aware of certain fundamental operational statistics, such as more than 90% of all nesting individuals had been observed by trained field teams. In this example, long-term data collection was able to provide reliable estimates of population trends, as well as support a contemporary review relating those trends to interannual variations in oceanographic conditions at the turtles' developmental habitats, including how those conditions might be affected by climate change scenarios.

VII. CONCLUSIONS

Sea turtles have complicated life histories embracing delayed sexual maturity, long life spans, and non-annual reproduction. Individuals move through a number of developmental life stages and habitats, for which the duration spent in each stage may vary in unpredictable ways. Accounting for the number of turtles within (and passage rates through) each stage is problematic, and a general dearth of population monitoring beyond the nesting beach continues to complicate efforts at population-level trend assessments (NRC, 2010).

Complexities notwithstanding, assessing population status is a priority recommendation of WCR sea turtle recovery plans (<u>http://www.widecast.org/widecast-publications/national-recovery-plans/</u>). That data were lacking to support such assessments was lamented during the First (Bacon et al., 1984) and Second (Ogren et al., 1989) Western Atlantic Turtle Symposiums. At a regional meeting in 1999, governments echoed their concern that "there is insufficient scientific information available for management purposes, especially from long-term monitoring of marine turtles and their habitats in the WCR", and recommended that index sites be selected and monitored to "determine demographic trends for each population using statistically robust procedures over ecologically relevant time frames" (*Santo Domingo Declaration:* Eckert and Abreu Grobois, 2001). Monitoring also has value to regional entities; for example, Parties to the IAC are obliged to submit an Annual Report¹⁵ to the Secretariat detailing activities taken on behalf of the "protection, conservation and recovery of sea turtle populations and their habitats" (Art. 4), reporting which relies, in part, on standardized data collected at index sites.

While most projects cannot expect to count 100% of the target nesting population each year, this does not mean that a quantitatively accurate appraisal of abundance and trend cannot be made. The intent of this handbook is to provide managers with a practical understanding of (and caveats associated with) the design and implementation of long-term surveys of abundance at sea turtle nesting beaches, including selecting the areas to be monitored, survey timing and duration, what (and how often) to count, measuring and reporting data accuracy, and, finally, estimating abundance in such a way as to allow trend analysis over time.

As confidence in annual nesting abundance estimates increases (e.g., decreased sampling error associated with increased sampling), the number of years necessary to detect a given trend with the same power and confidence decreases (Chaloupka et al., 2008; Jackson et al., 2008; Sims et al., 2008). For most sea turtle populations, at least 20 years of monitoring with

¹⁵ Article XI(1). Each Party shall prepare an annual report, in accordance with Annex IV, on the programs it has adopted to protect and conserve sea turtles and their habitats, as well as any program it may have adopted relating to the utilization of these species in accordance with Article IV(3). Source: <u>http://www.iacseaturtle.org/texto-eng.htm</u>

low levels of error (CV \leq 0.2) are necessary to detect a population trend of ±5% (SWOT Scientific Advisory Board, 2011), so it is essential that standardized population monitoring be maintained over decadal scales.¹⁶ Equally important is that monitoring locations and methodologies are selected to "fit" local staff, financial, and logistic constraints and realities, as well as address stated management goals and objectives.

Creative partnerships and collaborations (with volunteers, community and youth groups; rangers and police; beachfront residents, including hoteliers and their staff; researchers, fishers, divers or tour guides that regularly visit remote areas, and so on) should be nurtured to help ensure the long-term viability and cost-effectiveness of the monitoring program. Where practical, and without diverting resources from core monitoring efforts, full advantage of visits to index sites should be taken for related research and/or conservation action (e.g., nest protection, habitat restoration, anti-poaching patrols, data collection related to habitat use, hatch success, nesting behavior).

Florida's Index Nesting Beach Survey is an example of how long-term collaboration between state and federal governments and an extensive network of trained volunteers (including members of conservation organizations, university researchers, and private citizens) can implement a detailed monitoring program able to identify trends in sea turtle nesting over a large geographic area (Figure 13). Since 1989, "the index survey has used standardized data collection criteria to measure seasonal nesting and to allow accurate comparisons between beaches and between years. Consistent effort by location and date and specialized annual training of beach surveyors make the index program suited to these trend assessments. Approximately 30% of Florida's beach length is surveyed under index-survey criteria. At a core set of index beaches ... trained surveyors monitor 320 km of nesting beach (nearly 200 miles) divided into zones that average 0.8 km (about 0.5 mile) in length. Beach surveyors monitor core index zones daily during a 109-day sea turtle index-nesting season (May 15-August 31). Researchers record nests and nesting attempts by species, nest location, and date. Index nest counts represent ap-



FIGURE 13. Florida's Index Nesting Beach Survey data allows managers to identify trends in sea turtle nesting statewide. For example, loggerhead nesting at index beaches has declined from a peak of nearly 60,000 in 1998 and now appears to be stabilizing (see also Witherington et al., 2009). In contrast, green turtle nest counts have increased about tenfold since 1989. Source: <u>http://myfwc.com/research/wildlife/sea-turtles/nesting/beach-survey-totals</u>

¹⁶ Do not be discouraged by this, every journey starts with the first step!

proximately 69% of known loggerhead nesting in Florida, 74% of known green turtle nesting, and 34% of known leatherback nesting."¹⁷

Whether sea turtle nesting population monitoring is just getting started or has been ongoing for a decade or more, such as in Florida and at other WCR sites where data have been published (e.g., Antigua and Barbuda: Richardson et al., 2006; Barbados: Beggs et al., 2007; Costa Rica: Troëng and Rankin, 2005; Chacón and Eckert, 2007; Cuba: Moncada et al., 2010; Guianas: Girondot et al., 2007; Mexico: Márquez et al., 2005 Garduño-Andrade et al., 1996; del Monte-Luna et al., 2011; Nicaragua: Campbell et al., 2012; Puerto Rico: Joglar et al., 2007; Diez et al., 2010; US Virgin Islands: Boulon et al., 1996; Garner and Garner, 2010), there is always an opportunity for improvement in methodology, training and evaluation, reporting, and/or analysis.

Too often, Caribbean managers find that even after several years of monitoring, the accumulated data are inadequate to estimate population distribution, size, or trend with sufficient rigor to meet basic management goals and objectives. We hope that this manual – with its many local examples, diagrams, checklists, and cited resources – will encourage an improved understanding of how to plan, conduct, and analyze surveys of abundance and that, as a result, Caribbean managers will more commonly find that they are able – regardless of staffing, funding or logistical constraints – to design a monitoring program based on best practices that fits their situation and can be relied upon to provide credible information on the status of sea turtle nesting populations in the 21st century.

¹⁷ Source: <u>http://myfwc.com/research/wildlife/sea-turtles/nesting/beach-survey-totals/</u>. For specific training materials, visit <u>http://myfwc.com/research/wildlife/sea-turtles/nesting/training-materials/</u>

VIII. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors are very grateful to the UNEP Caribbean Environment Programme (CEP) and its regional Programme on Specially Protected Areas and Wildlife (SPAW), as well as to the Marine Turtle Conservation Fund of the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, for financial support enabling the development, printing and distribution of this handbook.

We warmly acknowledge Dr. Robert van Dam (Chelonia, Inc. and Sea Turtle Conservation Bonaire) and Dr. William Kendall (U.S. Geological Survey and Colorado State University) for substantive collaboration in the early stages of this manuscript. We also acknowledge with sincere appreciation the efforts of Dr. Bryan Wallace (Chairman) and the Scientific Advisory Board to the "State of the World's Turtles" (SWOT) in advancing the analytical aspects of monitoring sea turtle populations, and for granting us permission to feature their protocols and diagrams in the context of this best practices document designed for colleagues in the Wider Caribbean Region.

Finally, we are grateful to the following colleagues, each of whom provided valuable peer-review and comment on the final draft:

Tadzio Bervoets (Nature Foundation of Sint Maarten), Dr. Rhema Bjorkland (Duke University, USA), Rafe Boulon (US National Park Service, US Virgin Islands), Dr. Darren Browne (Barbados Sea Turtle Project, University of the West Indies), Dr. Verónica Cáceres (Secretaría Pro Tempore, InterAmerican Convention for the Protection and Conservation of Sea Turtles), Dr. Cathi Campbell (Wildlife Conservation Society, Nicaragua), Dr. Milani Chaloupka (Ecological Modeling Services, Australia), Dr. Eduardo Amir Cuevas F. (Pronatura – Peninsula de Yucatán A.C., México), Dr. Benoît de Thoisy (Association Kwata, French Guiana), Lucine Edwards (Fisheries Division, St. Vincent and the Grenadines), Dr. Allen Foley (Florida Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission, USA), Dr. Marc Girondot (Université Paris Sud, CNRS et Agro ParisTech, France), Hedelvy Guada (CICTMAR, Venezuela), James Gumbs (Department of Fisheries and Marine Resources, Anguilla), Vicente Guzmán Hernández (CONANP, México), Dr. Julia Horrocks (Barbados Sea Turtle Project, University of the West Indies), Dr. Cynthia Lagueux (Wildlife Conservation Society, Nicaragua), Carl Lloyd (Ocean Spirits, Grenada), Kristen Mazzarella (Mote Marine Laboratory, USA), Colum Muccio (ARCAS, Guatemala), Farah Mukhida (Anguilla National Trust), Sally Murphy (South Carolina Department of Natural Resources [Ret.], USA), Mabel Nava (Sea Turtle Conservation Bonaire), Seth Stapleton (University of Minnesota, USA), Dr. Kelly Stewart (NOAA National Marine Fisheries Service, USA), Dr. Tony Tucker (Mote Marine Laboratory, USA), Dr. Robert van Dam (Chelonia Inc., Puerto Rico, and Sea Turtle Conservation Bonaire), Dr. Richard van der Wal (Turtugaruba Foundation, Aruba), and Dr. Bryan Wallace (Conservation International, USA).

IX. LITERATURE CITED

Alvarado, J. and T.M. Murphy. 1999. Nesting Periodicity and internesting behavior, p.115-118. In: K.L. Eckert, K.A. Bjorndal, F.A. Abreu-Grobois and M. Donnelly (Editors), Research and Management Techniques for the Conservation of Sea Turtles. IUCN/SSC Marine Turtle Specialist Group Publication No. 4. Washington D.C. <u>http://iucn-mtsg.org/publications/</u>

Angeles, M.E., J.E. Gonzalez, D.J. Erickson and J.L. Hernández. 2007. Predictions of future climate change in the Caribbean region using global circulation models. International Journal of Climatology 27:555-569.

Bacon, P., F. Berry, K. Bjorndal. H. Hirth, L. Ogren, and M. Weber (Editors). 1984. Proceedings of the First Western Atlantic Turtle Symposium, 17-22 July 1983, San José. Vol I. RSMAS Printing, Miami. 306 pp. <u>http://www.widecast.org/widecast-publications/west-atlantic-turtle-symposium/</u>

Balazs, G.H. 1982. Factors affecting the retention of metal tags on sea turtles. Marine Turtle Newsletter 20:11-14. <u>http://www.seaturtle.org/mtn/</u>

Ballestero, J. 1996. Weather changes and olive ridley nesting density in the Ostional Wildlife Refuge, Santa Cruz, Guanacaste, Costa Rica, p.26-30. <u>In</u>: J.A. Keinath et al. (Compilers), Proceedings of the 15th Annual Symposium on Sea Turtle Biology and Conservation. NOAA Tech. Memo. NMFS-SEFSC-387. U.S. Department of Commerce. https://internationalseaturtlesociety.org/proceedings-2/

Beggs, J., J.A. Horrocks and B. Krueger. 2007. Increase in hawksbill *Eretmochelys imbricata* sea turtle nesting in Barbados, West Indies. Endangered Species Research 3:159-168.

Bjorkland, R.K. 2001. Monitoring Population Trends, p.107-110, 137-138. <u>In</u>: K.L. Eckert and F. A. Abreu-Grobois (Editors), Proceedings of the Regional Meeting: Marine Turtle Conservation in the Wider Caribbean Region: A Dialogue for Effective Regional Management, Santo Domingo, Dominican Republic, 16-18 November 1999. WIDECAST, IUCN-MTSG, WWF, and UNEP-CEP. <u>http://www.widecast.org/widecast-publications/</u>

Bjorndal, K.A. and A.B. Bolten. 2008. Annual variation in source contributions to a mixed stock: implications for quantifying connectivity. Molecular Ecology 17:2185-2193.

Bjorndal, K.A., A.B. Bolten, C.J. Lagueux and A. Chaves. 1996. Probability of tag loss in green turtles nesting at Tortuguero, Costa Rica. Journal of Herpetology 30(4):567-571.

Bluvias, J.E. and K.L. Eckert. 2010. Marine Turtle Trauma Response Procedures: A Husbandry Manual. Wider Caribbean Sea Turtle Conservation Network (WIDECAST) Technical Report No. 10. Ballwin, Missouri. 100 pp. <u>http://www.widecast.org/widecast-publications/</u>

Boulon, R.H., P.H. Dutton and D. McDonald. 1996. Leatherback turtles (*Dermochelys coriacea*) on St. Croix, U. S. Virgin Islands: Fifteen years of conservation. Chelonian Conservation and Biology 2:141-147.

Bowen, B.W., A.L. Bass, L. Soares and R.J. Toonen. 2005. Conservation implications of complex population structure: lessons from the loggerhead turtle (*Caretta caretta*). Molecular Ecology 14:2389-2402. Bowen, B.W., A.B. Meylan, J.P. Ross, C.J. Limpus, G.H. Balazs and J.C. Avise. 1992. Global population structure and natural history of the green turtle (*Chelonia mydas*) in terms of matriarchal phylogeny. Evolution 46(4):865-881.

Bowen, B., J.C. Avise, J.I. Richardson, A.B. Meylan, D. Margaritoulis and S.R. Hopkins-Murphy. 1993. Population structure of loggerhead turtles (*Caretta caretta*) in the Northwestern Atlantic Ocean and Mediterranean Sea. Conservation Biology 7(4):834-844.

Bräutigam, A. and K.L. Eckert 2006. Turning the Tide: Exploitation, Trade and Management of Marine Turtles in the Lesser Antilles, Central America, Colombia and Venezuela. TRAFFIC International, Cambridge, U.K. 533 pp. <u>http://www.widecast.org/widecast-publications/</u>

Briane, J.-P., P. Rivalan and M. Girondot. 2007. The inverse problem applied to the observed clutch frequency of leatherback turtles from Ya:lima:po Beach, French Guiana. Chelonian Conservation and Biology 6:63-70.

Browne, D.C., J.A. Horrocks and F.A. Abreu-Grobois. 2010. Population subdivision in hawksbill turtles nesting on Barbados, West Indies, determined from mitochondrial DNA control region sequences. Conservation Genetics 11:1541-1546.

Carr, A. 1963. Panspecific reproductive convergence in *Lepidochelys kempii*. Ergebnisse der Biologie 26:298-303.

Chacón, D. and K.L. Eckert. 2007. Leatherback sea turtle nesting at Gandoca Beach in Caribbean Costa Rica: Management recommendations from fifteen years of conservation. Chelonia Conservation and Biology 6(1):101-110.

Chacón, D., B. Dick, E. Harrison, L. Sarti M. and M. Solano (Editors). 2008. Manual sobre técnicas de manejo y conservación de las tortugas marinas en playas de anidación de Centroamérica. Prepared for the Secretaria Pro Tempore de la Convención Interamericana para la Protección y Conservación de las Tortugas Marinas (CIT), San José, Costa Rica. 54 pp.

Campbell, C.L., C.J. Lagueux, V. Huertas and W.A. McCoy. 2012. 2011 Pearl Cays Hawksbill Conservation Project, Nicaragua. Final Report. Nicaragua Sea Turtle Conservation Program, Wildlife Conservation Society. Pearl Lagoon, Nicaragua. 32 pp.

Chaloupka, M., K.A. Bjorndal, G.H. Balazs, A.B. Bolten, L.M. Ehrhart, C.J. Limpus, H. Suganuma, S. Troëng and M. Yamaguchi. 2008. Encouraging outlook for recovery of a once severely exploited marine mega-herbivore. Global Ecology and Biogeography 17:297-304.

Choi, G.-Y. and K.L. Eckert. 2009. Manual of Best Practices for Safeguarding Sea Turtle Nesting Beaches. Wider Caribbean Sea Turtle Conservation Network (WIDECAST) Technical Report No. 9. Ballwin, Missouri. 86 pp. <u>http://www.widecast.org/widecast-publications/</u>

Congdon, J.D. and A.E. Dunham. 1999. Defining the beginning: The importance of research design, p.83-87. <u>In</u>: K.L. Eckert, K.A. Bjorndal, F.A. Abreu-Grobois and M. Donnelly (Editors), Research and Management Techniques for the Conservation of Sea Turtles. IUCN/SSC Marine Turtle Specialist Group Publication No. 4. Washington D.C. <u>http://iucn-mtsg.org/publications/</u>

del Monte-Luna, P., V. Guzmán-Hernández, E. Cuevas, F. Arreguín-Sánchez and D. Lluch-Belda. 2011. Effect of North Atlantic climate variability on hawksbill turtles in the Southern Gulf of Mexico. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 2011, doi:10.1016/j.jembe. 2011.11.005

Delcroix, E., S. Bédel, G. Santelli and M. Girondot. *in review.* Monitoring design for quantification of marine turtle nesting with limited effort: A test case in the Guadeloupe Archipelago. Oryx.

Dethmers, K.E.M., D. Broderick, C. Moritz, N.N. FitzSimmons, C.J. Limpus, S. Lavery, S. Whiting, M. Guinea, R.I.T. Prince and R. Kennet. 2006. The genetic structure of Australasian green turtles (*Chelonia mydas*): exploring the geographical scale of genetic exchange. Molecular Ecology 15(13):3931-3946.

Diez, C.E., R. Soler, G. Olivera, A. White, T. Tallevast, N. Young and R.P. van Dam. 2010. Caribbean leatherbacks: results of nesting seasons from 1984-2008 at Culebra Island, Puerto Rico. Marine Turtle Newsletter 127:22-23.

Dow, W., K. Eckert, M. Palmer and P. Kramer. 2007. An Atlas of Sea Turtle Nesting Habitat for the Wider Caribbean Region. The Wider Caribbean Sea Turtle Conservation Network and The Nature Conservancy. WIDECAST Technical Report No. 6. Beaufort, North Carolina. 267 pages, plus electronic Appendices. <u>http://www.widecast.org/widecast-publications/</u>

Dow Piniak, W.E. and K.L. Eckert. 2011. Sea turtle nesting habitat in the Wider Caribbean Region. Endangered Species Research 15:129-141.

Dutton, P.H., S.K. Davis, T. Guerra and D. Owens. 1996. Molecular Phylogeny for marine turtles based on sequences of the ND4-Leucine tRNA and control regions of mitochondrial DNA. Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution 5:511-521.

Dutton, P.H., B.W. Bowen, D.W. Owens, A. Barragan and S.K. Davis. 1999. Global phylogeography of the leatherback turtle (*Dermochelys coriacea*). Journal of Zoology 248(3):397-409.

Dutton, P.H., C. Hitipeuw, M. Zein, S.R. Benson, G. Petro, V. Pita, L. Ambio and J. Bakarbessy. 2007. Status and genetic structure of nesting populations of leatherback turtles (*Dermochelys coriacea*) in the western Pacific. Chelonian Conservation and Biology 6:47-53.

Eckert, K.L. 1999. Designing a conservation program, p.6-8. <u>In</u>: K.L. Eckert, K.A. Bjorndal, F. A. Abreu-Grobois and M. Donnelly (Editors), Research and Management Techniques for the Conservation of Sea Turtles. IUCN/SSC Marine Turtle Specialist Group Publ. No. 4, Washington, D.C. <u>http://iucn-mtsg.org/publications/</u>

Eckert, K.L. and F.A. Abreu Grobois (Editors). 2001. Proceedings of the Regional Meeting: "Marine Turtle Conservation in the Wider Caribbean Region: A Dialogue for Effective Regional Management," Santo Domingo, 16-18 November 1999. WIDECAST, IUCN-MTSG, WWF, and UNEP-CEP. xx + 154 pp.

Eckert, K.L. and J. Beggs. 2006. Marine Turtle Tagging: A manual of recommended practices. WIDECAST Technical Report No. 2. Revised Edition. Beaufort, North Carolina. 40 pp. <u>http://www.widecast.org/widecast-publications/</u>

Eckert, K.L. and A.H. Hemphill. 2005. Sea turtles as flagships for protection of the Wider Caribbean Region. Special Issue: Marine Turtles as Flagships. Maritime Studies, MAST 3(2) and 4 (1):119-143.

Eckert, S.A. and D. Sammy. 2008. WIDECAST Regional Marine Turtle Database: User's Manual Version 4.1. Prepared for the Wider Caribbean Sea Turtle Conservation Network, Beaufort, North Carolina. 55 pp. <u>http://www.widecast.org/management/regional-tagging-centre/</u>

Eckert, K.L., K.A. Bjorndal, F.A. Abreu-Grobois and M. Donnelly (Editors). 1999. Research and Management Techniques for the Conservation of Sea Turtles. IUCN/SSC Marine Turtle Specialist Group Publication No. 4. Washington, D.C. 235 pp. <u>http://iucn-mtsg.org/publications/</u>

Fonseca, L.G., G.A. Murillo, L. Guadamúz, R.M. Spínola and R.A. Valverde. 2009. Downward but stable trend in the abundance of arribada olive ridley sea turtles (*Lepidochelys olivacea*) at Nancite Beach, Costa Rica (1971-2007). Chelonian Conservation and Biology 8:19-27.

Fossette, S., L. Kelle, M. Girondot, E. Goverse, M.L. Hilterman, B. Verhage, B. de Thoisy and J.-Y. Georges. 2008. The world's largest leatherback rookeries: A review of conservationoriented research in French Guiana/Suriname and Gabon. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 356:69-82.

Frazer, N.B. 1983. Survivorship of adult female loggerhead sea turtles, *Caretta caretta*, nesting on Little Cumberland Island, Georgia, USA. Herpetologica 39(4):436-447.

Frazer, N.B. and J.I. Richardson. 1985. Annual variation in clutch size and frequency for loggerhead turtles, *Caretta caretta*, nesting at Little Cumberland Island, Georgia, USA. Herpetologica 41:246-251.

FFWCC. 2007. Marine Turtle Conservation Guidelines. Florida Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission, St. Petersburg, Florida. 107 pp. <u>https://myfwc.com/wildlifehabitats/wildlife/seaturtle/protection/</u>

Galimberti, F. 2002. Power analysis of population trends: An application to elephant seals of the Falklands. Marine Mammal Science 18:557-566.

Garduño-Andrade, M., V. Guzman, E. Miranda, R. Briseño-Dueñas and F.A. Abreu-Grobois. 1996. Increases in hawksbill turtle (*Eretmochelys imbricata*) nestings in the Yucatán Peninsula, Mexico, 1977-1996: data in support of successful conservation. Chelonian Conservation and Biology 3(2):286-289.

Garner, J.A. and S.A. Garner. 2010. Saturation tagging and nest management of leatherback sea turtles (*Dermochelys coriacea*) on Sandy Point National Wildlife Refuge, St. Croix, U.S. Virgin Islands, 2010. Annual Report to the U.S Fish and Wildlife Service. Frederiksted, St. Croix. 49 pp.

Gates, C.E., R.A. Valverde, C.L. Mo, A.C. Chaves, J. Ballesteros and J. Peskin. 1996. Estimating arribada size using a modified instantaneous count procedure. Journal of Agricultural, Biological, and Environmental Statistics 1(3):275-287.

Girondot, M. 2010a. Estimating density of animals during migratory waves: a new model applied to marine turtles at nesting sites. Endangered Species Research 12:95-105.

Girondot, M. 2010b. Editorial: The Zero Counts. Marine Turtle Newsletter 129:5-7.

Girondot, M., M.H. Godfrey, L. Ponge and P. Rivalan. 2007. Modeling approaches to quantify leatherback nesting trends in French Guiana and Suriname. Chelonian Conserv. Biol. 6:37-46.

Girondot, M., P. Rivalan, R. Wongsopawiro, J.-P. Briane, V. Hulin, S. Caut, E. Guirlet and M.H. Godfrey. 2006. Phenology of marine turtle nesting revealed by a statistical model of the nesting season. BMC Ecology 6:11.

Godley, B.J., A.C. Broderick, L.M. Campbell, S. Ranger and P.B. Richardson. 2004. An Assessment of the Status and Exploitation of Marine Turtles in the UK Overseas Territories in the Wider Caribbean. Final Project Report to the Department of Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA) & the Foreign Commonwealth Office. www.seaturtle.org/mtrg/projects/tcot/finalreport

Gorjux, E., J. Mailloux and E. Delcroix. 2006. The terrestrial habitat of sea turtles: Study on its relation to coastal development and ecological recovery in the French West Indies. Technical Study. ONF Guadeloupe et Réseau Tortues Marines Guadeloupe, Basse-Terre, Guadeloupe. 60 pp. + Annexes.

Gratiot, N., J. Gratiot, L. Kelle and B. de Thoisy. 2006. Estimation of the nesting season of marine turtles from incomplete data: statistical adjustment of a sinusoidal function. Animal Conservation 9:95-102.

Harris, A.H.E., S. Stapleton and M. Harris. 2010. Nesting Ecology and Conservation of Marine Turtles in the Commonwealth of Dominica, West Indies: 2010 Annual Project Report. Prepared for the Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries and Forestry. Roseau, Dominica, West Indies. 69 pp.

Heppell, S.S., M.L. Snover and L.B. Crowder. 2003. Sea turtle population ecology, p.275-306. In: P.L. Lutz, J.A. Musick and J. Wyneken (Editors), The Biology of Sea Turtles. CRC Press, NY

Hilterman, M.L. and E. Goverse. 2005. Annual Report on the 2004 Leatherback Turtle Research and Monitoring Project in Suriname. World Wildlife Fund – Guianas Forests and Environmental Conservation Project (WWF-GFECP) Technical Report to the Netherlands Committee for IUCN (NC-IUCN), Amsterdam, Netherlands. 18 pp.

Hirth, H. 1980. Nesting biology of sea turtles. American Zoologist 20:507-523.

Horrocks, J.A. and N.M. Scott. 1991. Nest site location and nest success in the hawksbill turtle, *Eretmochelys imbricata*, in Barbados, West Indies. Marine Ecology Progress Series 69(3):1-8.

Horrocks, J.A., B.H. Krueger, M. Fastigi, E.L. Pemberton and K.L. Eckert. 2011. International movements of adult female hawksbill turtles (*Eretmochelys imbricata*): first results from the Caribbean's Marine Turtle Tagging Centre. Chelonian Conservation and Biology 10(1):18-25.

Jackson, A.L., A.C. Broderick, W.J. Fuller, F. Glen, G.D. Ruxton and B.J. Godley. 2008. Sampling design and its effect on population monitoring: How much monitoring do turtles really need? Biological Conservation 141:2932-2941.

Joglar, R.L., A.O. Álvarez, T.M. Aide, D. Barber, P.A. Burrowes, M.A. García, A. León-Cardona, A.V. Longo, N. Pérez-Buitrago, A. Puente, N. Rios-López and P.J. Tolson. 2007. Conserving the Puerto Rican Herpetofauna. Applied Herpetology 4:327-345.

Kendall, W.L. 2001. Using models to facilitate complex decisions, p.147-170. <u>In</u> T.M. Shenk and A.B. Franklin (Editors), Modeling in Natural Resource Management: Development, Interpretation, and Application. Island Press, Washington, D.C.

Kendall, W.L. and C.T. Moore. 2012. Maximizing the utility of monitoring to the adaptive management of natural resources, p.74-98. In: R.A. Gitzen, J.J. Millspaugh, A.B. Cooper, and D.S. Licht (Editors). Design and Analysis of Long-term Ecological Monitoring Studies. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK.

Kerr, R., J.I. Richardson and T.H. Richardson. 1999. Estimating the annual size of hawksbill (*Eretmochelys imbricata*) nesting populations from mark-recapture studies: the use for long-term data to provide statistics for optimizing survey effort. Chelonian Conserv. Biology 3:251-256.

Legg, C.J. and L. Nagy. 2006. Why most conservation monitoring is, but need not be, a waste of time. Journal of Environmental Management 78:194-199.

Limpus, C.J. 1992. Estimation of tag loss in marine turtle research. Wildlife Res. 19(4):457-469.

Limpus, C.J. 2008. A Biological Review of Australian Marine Turtles: Green turtle *Chelonia mydas* (Linnaeus). Queensland Environmental Protection Agency, Australia. 96 pp.

Limpus, C.J. and N. Nicholls. 1988. The southern oscillation regulates the annual numbers of green turtles (*Chelonia mydas*) breeding around Northern Australia. Australian Wildlife Research 15(2):157-161.

Limpus, C.J. and D.J. Limpus. 2003. The biology of the loggerhead turtle in Western South Pacific Ocean foraging areas, p.93-113. <u>In</u>: A.B. Bolten and B. Witherington (Editors), Loggerhead Sea Turtles. Smithsonian Institution Press, Washington, D.C.

Limpus, C.J., J.D. Miller, C.J. Parmenter and D.J. Limpus. 2003. The green turtle, *Chelonia mydas*, population of Raine Island and the Northern Great Barrier Reef: 1843-2001. Memoirs Queensland Museum 49:349-440.

Lohmann, K.J., N.F. Putman and C.M.F. Lohmann. 2008. Geomagnetic imprinting: A unifying hypothesis of long-distance natal homing in salmon and sea turtles. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, PNAS 105(49):19096-19101.

Márquez-M., R., P.M. Burchfield, J. Díaz-F., M. Sánchez-P., M. Carrasco-A., C. Jiménez-Q., A. Leo-P., R. Bravo-G. and J. Peña-V. 2005. Status of Kemp's ridley sea turtle, *Lepidochelys kempii*. Chelonian Conservation and Biology 4(4):761-766.

Meylan, A.B., B.W. Bowen and J.C. Avise. 1990. A genetic test of the natal homing versus social facilitation models for green turtle migration. Science 248:724-727.

Mills, L.S. 2007. Conservation of Wildlife Populations: Demography, Genetics and Management. Blackwell Publishing, Malden, Massachusetts. 407 pp.

Moncada, F., E. Carrillo, A. Saenz and G. Nodarse. 1999. Reproduction and nesting of the hawksbill turtle, *Eretmochelys imbricata*, in the Cuban archipelago. Chelonian Conservation and Biology 3(2):257-263.

Moncada, F.G., G. Nodarse, Y. Medina and E. Escobar. 2010. Twelve years of monitoring hawksbill turtle (*Eretmochelys imbricata*) nesting at Doce Leguas Keys and Labyrinth, Jardines de la Reina Archipelago, Cuba. Marine Turtle Newsletter 127:6-8.

Moritz, C. 1994. Applications of mitochondrial DNA analysis in conservation: a critical review. Molecular Ecology 3:401-411.

Nichols, J.D. 2001. Using models in the conduct of science and management, p.11-34. <u>In</u> T.M. Shenk and A.B. Franklin (Editors), Modeling in Natural Resource Management: Development, Interpretation, and Application. Island Press, Washington, D.C.

Nichols, J.D. and B.K. Williams. 2006. Monitoring for conservation. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 21:668-673.

National Marine Fisheries Service, U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, and SEMARNAT. 2011. Bi-National Recovery Plan for the Kemp's Ridley Sea Turtle (*Lepidochelys kempii*), Second Revision. National Marine Fisheries Service. Silver Spring, Maryland 156 pp. + appendices. <u>https://www.fws.gov/kempsridley/</u>

NMFS. 2008. Sea Turtle Research Techniques Manual. U.S. National Marine Fisheries Service Southeast Fisheries Science Center. NOAA Tech. Memo. NMFS-SEFSC-579. 92 pp. <u>https://spo.nmfs.noaa.gov/tech-memos</u>

NRC. 2010 Assessment of Sea-Turtle Status and Trends: Integrating Demography and Abundance. National Research Council, the National Academy of Sciences. The National Academies Press, Washington, D.C. 162 pp. <u>http://www.nap.edu/catalog.php?record_id=12889</u>

Ogren, L. (Editor-in-Chief). 1989. Proceedings of the 2nd Western Atlantic Turtle Symposium, 12-16 October 1987, Mayagüez, Puerto Rico. NOAA National Marine Fisheries Service, Panama City, FL. 401 pp. <u>http://www.widecast.org/widecast-publications/west-atlantic-turtle-symposium/</u>

Plotkin, P.T. (Editor). 2007. Biology and Conservation of Ridley Sea Turtles. The Johns Hopkins University Press, Baltimore, Maryland. 356 pp.

Plotkin, P.T., D.C. Rostal, R.A. Byles and D.W. Owens. 1997. Reproductive and developmental synchrony in female *Lepidochelys olivacea*. Journal of Herpetology 31:17-22.

Pritchard, P.C.H. and J.A. Mortimer. 1999. Taxonomy, external morphology, and species identification, p.21-40. <u>In</u>: K.L. Eckert, K.A. Bjorndal, F.A. Abreu-Grobois and M. Donnelly (Editors), Research and Management Techniques for the Conservation of Sea Turtles. IUCN/ SSC Marine Turtle Specialist Group Publication No. 4. Washington D.C. <u>http://iucn-mtsg.org/publications/</u>

Reina, R.D., P.A. Mayor, J.R. Spotila, R. Piedra and F.V. Paladino. 2002. Nesting ecology of the leatherback turtle, *Dermochelys coriacea*, at Parque Nacional Marino Las Baulas, Costa Rica: 1988-1989 to 1999-2000. Copeia 2002(3):653-664.

Richardson, J.I., R. Bell and T.H. Richardson. 1999. Populations ecology and demographic implications drawn from an 11-year study of nesting hawksbill turtles, *Eretmochelys imbricata*, at Jumby Bay, Long Island, Antigua, West Indies. Chelonian Conservation and Biology 3:244-250.

Richardson, J.I., D.B. Hall, P.A. Mason, K.M. Andrews, R. Bjorkland, Y. Cai and R. Bell. 2006. Eighteen years of saturation tagging data reveal a significant increase in nesting hawksbill sea turtles (*Eretmochelys imbricata*) on Long Island, Antigua. Animal Conservation 9:302-307.

Rivalan, P., M.H. Godfrey, A.-C. Prévot-Julliard and M. Girondot. 2005. Maximum likelihood estimates of tag loss in leatherback sea turtles. Journal of Wildlife Management 69(2):540-548.

Rivalan, P., R. Pradel, R. Choquet, M. Girondot and A.-C. Prévot-Julliard. 2006. Estimating clutch frequency in the sea turtle *Dermochelys coriacea* using stop-over duration. Marine Ecology Progress Series 317:285-295.

Russo, M. 2008-2009. L'investissement reproductif chez les tortues luths: nouvelles méthodes d'analyse. Master 2 Ecologie, Biodiversité et Evolution, Université Paris-Sud.

Russo, M. and M. Girondot. 2008. How many night counts to get a defined level of intra-annual coefficient of variation for nest counts? Laboratoire Ecologie, Systématique et Evolution, Université Paris Sud, CNRS et AgroParisTech, Paris, France. Unpublished.

Russo, M. and M. Girondot. 2009. How long to monitor marine turtle populations to conclude for a trend? Report to SWOT. France: Laboratoire Ecologie, Systématique et Evolution, Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique et Université Paris Sud. 100 pp.

Saba, V.S., P. Santidrian-Tomillo, R.D. Reina, J.R. Spotila, J.A. Musick, D.A. Evans and F.V. Paladino. 2007. The effect of the El Nino and the Southern Oscillation on the reproductive frequency of eastern Pacific leatherback turtles. Journal of Applied Ecology 44:395-404.

Sauer, J.R., J.E. Hines and J. Fallon. 2008. The North American Breeding Bird Survey: results and analysis 1966-2007. Version 5.15. USGS Patuxent Wildlife Research Center, Laurel, MD.

Sauer, J.R., J.E. Hines, G. Gough, I. Thomas and B.G. Peterjohn. 1997. The North American Breeding Bird Survey: results and analysis. Version 96.4. USGS Patuxent Wildlife Research Center, Laurel, Maryland. <u>http://www.mbr-pwrc.usgs.gov/bbs/genintro.html</u>

Schaub, M., R. Pradel, L. Jenni and J.-D. Lebreton. 2001. Migrating birds stop over longer than usually thought: an improved capture-recapture analysis. Ecology 82:852-859.

Schroeder, B. and S. Murphy. 1999. Population surveys (ground and aerial) on nesting beaches, p.45-55. <u>In</u>: K.L. Eckert, K.A. Bjorndal, F.A. Abreu-Grobois and M. Donnelly (Editors), Research and Management Techniques for the Conservation of Sea Turtles. IUCN/SSC Marine Turtle Specialist Group Publication No. 4. Washington D.C. <u>http://iucn-mtsg.org/publications/</u>

Shanker, K., B. Pandav and B.C. Choudhury. 2003. Counting turtles during arribadas, p28-42. <u>In</u>: Sea Turtle Conservation: Population Census and Monitoring. A GOI-UNDP Project Manual. Centre for Herpetology/Madras Crocodile Bank Trust, Mamallapuram, Tamil Nadu, India.

Sims, M., R.K. Bjorkland, P. Mason and L.B. Crowder. 2008. Statistical power and sea turtle nesting beach surveys: How long and when? Biological Conservation 141:2921-2931.

Starbird, C.H., Z. Hillis-Starr, J.T. Harvey and S.A. Eckert. 1999. Internesting movements and behavior of hawksbill turtles (*Eretmochelys imbricata*) around Buck Island Reef National Monument, St. Croix, U.S. Virgin Islands. Chelonian Conservation and Biology 3:237-243.

Stewart, K. and C. Johnson. 2006. *Dermochelys coriacea* - Leatherback sea turtle. Chelonian Research Monographs 3:144-157.

SWOT Scientific Advisory Board. 2011. The State of the World's Sea Turtles (SWOT) Minimum Data Standards for Nesting Beach Monitoring. Technical Report 1, ver. 1.0. Washington, D.C. 24 pp. <u>http://seaturtlestatus.org/data/standards</u>

Talbert, O.R., S.E. Stancyk, J.M. Dean and J.M. Will. 1980. Nesting activity of the loggerhead turtle (*Caretta caretta*) in South Carolina I: A rookery in transition. Copeia 1980(4):709-718.

Troëng, S. and E. Rankin. 2005. Long-term conservation efforts contribute to positive green turtle *Chelonia mydas* nesting trend at Tortuguero, Costa Rica. Biological Conserv. 121:111-116.

Tucker, A.D. 1988. A summary of leatherback turtle, *Dermochelys coriacea*, nesting at Culebra, Puerto Rico, from 1984-1987 with management recommendations. Unpublished report to the U.S. Department of Interior, Fish and Wildlife Service. Washington, D.C.

Tucker, A.D. 2010. Nest site fidelity and clutch frequency of loggerhead turtles are better elucidated by satellite telemetry than by nocturnal tagging efforts: Implications for stock estimation. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 383:48-55.

Valverde, R.A. and C.E. Gates. 1999. Population surveys on mass nesting beaches, p.56-60. <u>In</u>: K.L. Eckert, K. A. Bjorndal and F.A. Abreu-Grobois (Editors), Research and Management Techniques for the Conservation of Sea Turtles. IUCN/SSC Marine Turtle Specialist Group Publication No. 4. Washington, D.C. <u>http://iucn-mtsg.org/publications/</u>

Valverde, R.A., S.E. Cornelius and C.L. Mo. 1998. Decline of the olive ridley sea turtle (*Lepido-chelys olivacea*) nesting assemblage at Nancite Beach, Santa Rosa National Park, Costa Rica. Chelonian Conservation and Biology 3:58-63.

Weishampel, J.F., D.A. Bagley and L.M. Ehrhart. 2004. Earlier nesting by loggerhead sea turtles following sea surface warming. Global Change Biology 10:1424-1427.

Weishampel, J.F., D.A. Bagley, L.M. Ehrhart and A.C. Weishampel. 2010. Nesting phenologies of two sympatric sea turtle species related to sea surface temperatures. Endangered Species Research 12:41-47.

Williams, B.K., J.D. Nichols and M.J. Conroy. 2002. Analysis and Management of Animal Populations. Academic Press. San Diego, California.

Witherington, B., P. Kubilis, B. Brost and A. Meylan. 2009. Decreasing annual nest counts in a globally important loggerhead sea turtle population. Ecological Applications 19(1):30-54.

Wood, L.D. 2004. A Field Guide for Sea Turtle Nesting Surveys in the Southeast U.S. Region. MarineLife Center, Juno Beach, Florida. 43 pp.

Zar, J.H. 1999. Biostatistical analysis, 4th edition. Prentice Hall, Englewood Cliffs, New Jersey.

ANNEX I: Sea Turtle Species Identification

Wider Caribbean Sea Turtles



ANNEX II: Interpreting Crawl Signs

Sea turtles can often be identified based on nesting crawl signs. According to Wood (2004), leatherbacks leave symmetrical (non-alternating) flipper marks in the sand, often with a noticeable tail drag as illustrated in the photo on the left (the turtle is moving toward the top of the picture). Wood (2004) also notes the tail drag and "poke" (arrows) in the center of the symmetrical green turtle crawl (center photo), and the alternating flipper marks of a loggerhead (right photo) where the turtle is moving toward the bottom of the picture. Photos: Wood (2004)



Gait (symmetry), crawl depth and width, and the presence or absence of a body pit and/or tail drag are the most useful characteristics when attempting to identify a sea turtle based on nesting crawl signs (table adapted from Pritchard and Mortimer, 1999).

SPECIES	GAIT	CRAWL DEPTH	CRAWL WIDTH (cm)	BODY PIT	TAIL DRAG
Leatherback	symmetrical	deep	150 – 230	deep	present, usually deep
Green Turtle	symmetrical	deep	100 – 130	deep	present, solid or broken line
Loggerhead	alternating	moderate	70 – 90	moderate	none
Hawksbill	alternating	shallow	70 – 85	shallow	often present
Kemp's Ridley	alternating	very shallow	70 – 80	shallow	none or minimal
Olive Ridley	alternating	very shallow	70 – 80	shallow	none or minimal

Leatherbacks (left) and green turtles (middle) leave the most obvious field signs, including deep body pits. Hawksbills (right) make shallow crawls and often nest in vegetation; field signs can be cryptic. Photos: Scott Eckert (Mexico), Edith van der Wal (Aruba), Seth Stapleton (Antigua).



ANNEX III: Sea Turtle Tagging¹⁸

Tag types most often used on sea turtles are externally placed flipper tags (generally metal or plastic) and internally placed PIT (Passive Integrated Transponder) tags.

FLIPPER TAGS

Flipper tags are modified livestock tags that must be pierced through the flesh and clamped closed using tag applicators designed for each tag type. Tags are the most commonly used identification marks on sea turtles, and their successful application can facilitate the collection of information on population trends, habitat residency, movement patterns (including international movements and migrations), individual growth rates, reproductive life history (e.g., remigration intervals, nesting frequency, clutch size, and/or hatchlings produced per female), and stranding patterns.

Tag Size – Most flipper tag styles are unsuitable for use on turtles smaller than 25-30 cm straight carapace length (SCL). While very small metal tags are commercially available (e.g., National Band and Tag [NBT] #1005-1), there are few data to evaluate their retention rates or any effect they may have on the movement or survival of very small turtles. In general, turtles larger than 30 cm SCL are tagged with NBT Inconel #1005-681 tags. A larger tag (NBT #1005-49) is better suited for adults of the larger sea turtle species; i.e., green, loggerhead, and leatherback turtles. See https://nationalband.com/wildlife-conservation-tags/ for details.

Tag Placement – Two tags, one in the trailing edge of each front (or rear) flipper, are applied to each turtle. "Double-tagging" increases the likelihood that the turtle retains its unique identification over several years.

Front flipper tags can be applied in one of two ways: either through or between the enlarged fleshy scales on the trailing edge of the flipper. If *through* the scale, we recommend placement in the center of the first or second scale proximal (closest) to the body. If *between* the scales, we recommend placement between the first and second scales. Each tag should be applied with ca. 3-5 mm of open space between the trailing edge of the flipper and the inside curve of the tag.

Rear flipper tags are placed through (or adjacent to) the first large scale on a hard-shelled species. For leatherbacks, the tag is placed in the "baggy pants area"; that is, in the fold of skin that connects the tail to the rear flipper.



Metal flipper tags, © National Band & Tag Company



Flipper tag through the scale, © B. Bergwerf, SCA



Rear flipper tag, © M. Godfrey, NCWRC



Rear flipper tag, © P. Dutton, NOAA

¹⁸ Adapted from Eckert and Beggs (2006) and Bluvias and Eckert (2010). For additional detail, see NMFS (2008).

Concerns and Warnings – Regardless of whether your tag is placed through or between scales, remember that with increasing distance away from the body, tag retention is compromised. In other words, the further the tag is placed from the body, the more likely it is to be lost due to hydrodynamic forces, biting during courtship (or by predatory or curious fish), entanglement in a fishing net, etc. In the case of rear flipper tagging, placing the tag too close to the tail can be painful for the turtle. Alternatively, placement too far from the tail risks loss by predatory or curious fish, or loss to abrasion during nest excavation, in the case of a female.

Tag Cleansing – During the manufacturing process the tags are covered in a lubricating oil comprised of an animal-based oil and mineral spirits, and therefore the tags must be washed prior to being applied to a turtle. Unwashed tags can quickly cause infection at the point of application. One option is to wash the tags in hot soapy water; another option is to use a biodegradable solvent or cleaning solution, such as Simple Green[®] or BioChem SolSafe 245[®]. After cleaning, dry the tags and store them in sealed plastic food storage boxes or Ziploc[™] type bags.

Tag Pliers – If you consistently encounter problems with tags that do not fully cinch closed, give extra care to loading each tag correctly with the base plate flush against the pliers. You may also find it useful to adjust or bend the tag to help ensure that the point of the tag enters the hole during the application process. Bend the tag so that the pointed end meets up with the hole, but *be careful not to bend the tag too frequently* as this will affect the integrity of the metal (this is particularly true with the softer Monel tags). Once you have bent the tag to ensure a fit, reopen the tag so that it will be retained snugly in the tag applicator.

Examine the Turtle – Before applying a tag, feel along the flipper edges and gently squeeze the first and second scales to identify any sores, lumps, or obvious sensitivity. Record the presence of potential tag scars (these may appear as rips in the flipper scales or skin, or lumps of scar tissue in the same location on both front flippers), and avoid placing new tags in these areas.

TAG APPLICATION STEPS: A CHECK LIST



Tagging pliers with metal flipper tag, © National Band & Tag Co.



Positioning pliers to tag, © Virginia Aquarium Foundation

- Rinse the tip of the tagging pliers and the tags in alcohol. Clean hands with soap and water or hand sanitizer prior to tagging and between tagging turtles.
- Cleanse tagging site on the turtle with a broad-based topical microbicide, such as a povidine-iodine antiseptic solution (e.g., Betadine[®]) or rubbing alcohol before tag insertion.
- Pull the tag through the grooved guides in the jaws of the applicator (pliers) until it "snaps" into place. Make sure that the base plate of the tag is flat against the bottom jaw and the "bubble" is seated in the hole. Marking one jaw of the pliers with white paint can assist in loading the tags correctly at night. *Check that the tag is seated securely*.
- Position the tag and pliers so that the tag number is facing upwards, is at the proper location on the flipper, and will result in an appropriate gap between the trailing edge of the flipper and the inside curve of the tag.

- Squeeze the pliers with a firm, smooth action. Squeezing too lightly will not allow the tine to bend and lock in place, while squeezing too hard may cause the tag to flatten and pinch the flipper. *Either mistake will result in tag loss, and the latter (i.e., squeezing too tightly) can cause unnecessary and unacceptable discomfort to the turtle.*
- Confirm that the tag is properly applied and cinched. For Inconel tags, turn the flipper over and examine the bottom of the tag to confirm that the tag has penetrated and that the tip (tine) is completely bent over and secure. An Inconel tag that is not secure can often be re-crimped with the tagging pliers. If this fails, remove the tag carefully and try again with a new tag, using the same puncture hole if possible.
- In the case of a stirrup-style Monel tag (see insert) where the bent tine is not visible, place your thumb and index finger on either side of the tag and gently attempt to wedge your fingers under the tag; if the tag pops open, it is not secure and must be replaced.



Closed pliers; note the stirrup style, © National Band & Tag Co.

• RECORD THE TAG NUMBER. It is only after you have confirmed the proper and secure placement of the tag(s) that the tag numbers are recorded on the datasheet. Record the numbers carefully, and indicate the placement site (e.g., left front flipper) if required by the data form. Check and *double-check* that you have read and recorded the numbers correctly (it is helpful if a second person reads the numbers to the data recorder). Always record zeros.

Concerns and Warnings – Practice tagging technique on a sheet of corrugated cardboard. It is important to become comfortable and confident with the quick, decisive action needed to penetrate the flesh and cinch the tag correctly. Slow or imprecise movements can cause discomfort to the turtle. Moreover, if the animal moves (especially in a startle response) during tag placement, the application may be ruined. Two people should be involved in each tagging – one person to hold the flipper and the turtle in case the turtle lurches, and one to do the actual tagging.

PIT TAGS

Passive Integrated Transponder (PIT) tags are cylindrical in shape and about the size of a grain of rice. They are injected under the skin or into muscle. PIT tags are "small inert microprocessors sealed in glass that can transmit a unique identification number to a hand-held reader when the reader briefly activates the tag with a low frequency radio signal at close range" (Balazs, 1999). When a specialized reader is passed over the tag, a number, typically 9-15 digits arranged in a unique and unalterable alphanumeric code (i.e., a combination of numbers and letters), is displayed in the reader's viewing window. The sea turtle feels nothing as the reader (or, scanner) is passed over it.



PIT tags, © Loggerhead MarineLife Center

The use of PIT tags in adult sea turtles is well-tested and offers the advantage of superior tag retention when compared to metal flipper tags. Less information is available on the long-term effects of PIT-tagging juvenile turtles. We do not discourage the PIT tagging of small juveniles, but we encourage you to contact colleagues who are experienced with younger age classes.

Concerns and Warnings – Applying a PIT (Passive Integrated Transponder) tag is more invasive than applying a flipper tag, and should be done only under the guidance of workers experienced with the technique. PIT tagging is not a substitute for flipper tagging, but is best used together with flipper tagging so that at least one external tag is readily visible for the next encounter.

Brand Considerations – There is little standardization among sea turtle projects with regard to PIT tag brand, frequency, placement (tag site), or record-keeping. The challenge this presents for data collection is that when the reader is not "matched" to the frequency of the tag, the tag cannot be detected. Standardizing brand use across geographic regions would assist in ensuring that turtles PIT-tagged at one site could be detected as tagged at other project sites. In the absence of standardization, we recommend <u>un</u>encrypted PIT tags so that they can be read by other scanning technologies (other manufacturers) should your tagged turtle nest or be captured in another location. We also recommend you select a reader capable of detecting PIT tags made by different manufacturers.

Tag Placement – A PIT tag is injected under the skin, generally into muscle, using a sterile needle applicator available from the manufacturer.



Scanning for a PIT tag, © B. Bergwerf, SCA





© The Turtle Hospital, annotated by J. Wyneken

For sea turtles larger than 30 cm SCL, we suggest tag insertion into the triceps muscle complex on the

Triceps muscle complex PIT tag injection, © NOAA/NMFS/SEFSC

anterior and dorsal aspect of the upper arm. This muscle mass, located on the humerus, can be pinched up so that the applicator easily enters the muscle. (*Note*: The major joint in the flipper is between the humerus bone and the radius and ulna bones.) An alternative site is adjacent the radius and ulna atop the flipper blade. You can feel the edges of the radius and ulna adjacent to the three largest scales. If this site is used, insert the tag parallel to the radius and ulna on the flipper's trailing edge. In some cases, PIT tags placed at this site may not enter muscle and can migrate and cause irritation.

Whatever location you choose, remember that PIT tags are designed to become encapsulated with fibrous connective tissue in muscle. When the tag is encapsulated, it will not migrate away from the insertion point. Experience has shown that the tags do not encapsulate as reliably in skin, tendon, ligament, connective tissue or fat. *Tag Sterilization* – Most PIT tags and applicators are pre-sterilized and packaged for field use, and we strongly recommend these. If the PIT tag style you select is not pre-sterilized, *each tag* must be soaked in non-toxic disinfectants (such as Betadine[™], followed by alcohol) prior to use.

Examine the Turtle – Verify that the sea turtle is not already PIT-tagged. As there is no consensus on PIT tag placement, examine foreflippers, shoulder muscles, rear flippers, and neck. Continue scanning even if a tag is found because some turtles may already have more than one PIT tag. To scan for an existing tag: turn the reader ON, place the reader directly on the skin of the turtle to decrease the "read distance", and then <u>press and hold</u> the READ button while moving over the area to be scanned in a circular motion. Use the entire reading surface of the scanner when trying to detect a tag.

After scanning an area, re-scan while tilting the scanner at various angles. PIT tags read best when the tag is pointing with the small end (picture the tip of a grain of rice) pointed directly toward the scanner, but the tag is not always oriented optimally under the skin. By tilting the reading surface at different angles during a sweep, the probability of tag detection is increased.

Record Existing Tags – If a PIT tag is found, enter the number (and any hyphens) on your data form <u>exactly</u> as it appears on the scanner display. The number is usually hexadecimal (digits 0-9 and letters A-F) and 10 (125, 128, or 400 kHz) or 15 (134.2 kHz) bytes long. Double-check to verify that the number is recorded without error, taking extra precaution concerning letters/numbers that can be confused; e.g., letter O and number 0 or Ø. If the display is inconsistent, displays a 16-byte alphanumeric code (0-9 and A-Z), or reads "AVID", you may have found an undecipherable, encrypted AVID tag.

PIT TAG APPLICATION STEPS: A CHECK LIST

- Scan and record the new tag <u>before</u> insertion to verify that the tag is functional.
- Clean the injection site with a swab saturated in antiseptic solution, such as Betadine[®].
- Insert the tagging needle under the skin and depress the syringe plunger to move the tag out of the applicator and into the muscle tissue. To inject using the triceps muscle complex, isolate by pinching the area next to the dorsal humerus, angle the applicator to ensure the tag is inserted into the muscle complex and not too deep into the flipper, and push the plunger to move the tag out of the applicator. If injecting into the flipper blade, identify the bones and inject adjacent to the radius and ulna.
- Watch for bleeding after injection. If blood flows from the wound, apply pressure with swab soaked in antiseptic solution until the flow stops. It may be necessary, especially in small juveniles, to apply a small amount of surgical glue to close the opening.

Concerns and Warnings – If the scanner has a low battery, or finds an unrecognized encrypted tag, the scanner may give bogus or "ghost" numbers; e.g., an excessively long alphanumeric code or nonsense symbols. Turn the scanner OFF, then ON, then re-scan. If bogus readings persist, replace the batteries or try another scanner – or, record the reading for later evaluation and make relevant notes on the data form. If the turtle is resting on anything iron, such as the bed of a truck, lift it up a few inches before scanning. Iron (and certain neon lighting and electrical motors nearby) render the scanner ineffective.



"Working together to build a future where all inhabitants of the Wider Caribbean Region, human and sea turtle alike, can live together in balance."

The Wider Caribbean Sea Turtle Conservation Network (WIDECAST) is a regional coalition of experts and a Partner Organization to the U.N. Environment Programme's Caribbean Environment Programme. WIDECAST was founded in 1981 in response to a recommendation by the IUCN/CCA *Meeting of Non-Governmental Caribbean Organizations on Living Resources Conservation for Sustainable Development in the Wider Caribbean* (Santo Domingo, 26-29 August 1981) that a "Wider Caribbean Sea Turtle Recovery Action Plan should be prepared ... consistent with the Action Plan for the Caribbean Environment Programme."

WIDECAST's vision for achieving sea turtle recovery on a regional scale has focused on bringing the best available science to bear on sea turtle management and conservation, empowering people to make effective use of that science in the policy-making process, and providing a mechanism and a framework for cooperation within and among nations. By involving stakeholders at all levels and encouraging policy-oriented research, WIDECAST puts science to practical use in conserving biodiversity and advocates for grassroots involvement in decision-making and project leadership.

Emphasizing initiatives that strengthen capacity within participating countries and institutions, the network develops and replicates pilot projects, provides technical assistance, enables coordination in the collection, sharing and use of information and data, and promotes strong linkages between science, policy, and public participation in the design and implementation of conservation actions. Working closely with local communities and resource managers, the network has also developed standard management guidelines and criteria that emphasize best practices and sustainability, ensuring that current utilization practices, whether consumptive or non-consumptive, do not undermine sea turtle survival over the long term.

With Country Coordinators in more than 40 Caribbean nations and territories, WIDECAST is uniquely able to facilitate complementary conservation action across range States, including strengthening legislation, encouraging community involvement, and raising public awareness of the endangered status of the region's six species of migratory sea turtles. As a result, most Caribbean nations have adopted a national sea turtle management plan, poaching and illegal product sales have been dramatically reduced or eliminated at key sites, many of the region's largest breeding colonies are monitored on an annual basis, alternative livelihood models are increasingly available for rural areas, and citizens are mobilized in support of conservation action. You can join us! Visit www.widecast.org for more information.

WWW.WIDECAST.ORG